

# Mass concentration in rescaled first order integral functionals

Antonin Monteil, Paul Pegon

# ▶ To cite this version:

Antonin Monteil, Paul Pegon. Mass concentration in rescaled first order integral functionals. 2022. hal-03517074v1

# HAL Id: hal-03517074 https://hal.science/hal-03517074v1

Preprint submitted on 7 Jan 2022 (v1), last revised 22 Feb 2024 (v4)

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# Mass concentration in rescaled first order integral functionals

Antonin Monteil<sup>\*</sup> Paul Pegon<sup>†</sup>

January 7, 2022

We consider first order local minimization problems min  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u, \nabla u)$  under a mass constraint  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m \in \mathbb{R}$ . We prove that the minimal energy function H(m) is always concave on  $(-\infty, 0)$  and  $(0, +\infty)$ , and that relevant rescalings of the energy, depending on a small parameter  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\Gamma$ -converge in the weak topology of measures towards the *H*-mass, defined for atomic measures  $\sum_i m_i \delta_{x_i}$  as  $\sum_i H(m_i)$ . We also consider space dependent Lagrangians  $f(x, u, \nabla u)$ , which cover the case of space dependent *H*-masses  $\sum_i H(x_i, m_i)$ , and also the case of a family of Lagrangians  $(f_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon}$  converging as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . The  $\Gamma$ -convergence result holds under mild assumptions on f, and covers several situations including homogeneous *H*-masses in any dimension  $N \ge 2$  for exponents above a critical threshold, and all concave *H*-masses in dimension N = 1. Our result yields in particular the concentration of Cahn-Hilliard fluids into droplets, and is related to the approximation of branched transport by elliptic energies.

# Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Setting	2	
	1.2	Assumptions and main result	3	
	1.3	Examples, counterexamples and applications	5	
	1.4	Structure of the paper	7	
2	Minimal cost function and <i>H</i> -mass			
	2.1	Concavity and lower semicontinuity of the cost function	7	
	2.2	<i>H</i> -transform and <i>H</i> -mass	9	
	2.3	Slope at the origin of the minimal cost function	11	
	2.4	Strict concavity of the cost function in dimension $N \ge 2$	13	
3	Lower bound for the energy and existence of optimal profiles			
	3.1	Profile decomposition by concentration compactness	15	

<sup>\*</sup>Université Paris-Est Créteil Val-de-Marne, LAMA, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Université Paris-Dauphine, Ceremade & INRIA, Project team Mokaplan, France

	3.2	Lower bound by concentration compactness	20
	3.3	Existence of optimal profiles	25
4	Г-сс	provergence of the rescaled energies towards the $H$ -mass	26
	4.1	Lower bound for the $\Gamma - \liminf $	26
	4.2	Upper bound for the $\Gamma - \limsup$	29
	4.3	Proof of the main $\Gamma$ -convergence result	30
5	Exa	mples, counterexamples and applications	30
	5.1	Scale-invariant Lagrangians and necessity of assumption $(H_6)$	30
	5.2	General concave costs in dimension one	31
	5.3	Homogeneous costs in any dimension	32
	5.4	Branched transport approximation: <i>H</i> -masses of normal 1-currents	33
	5.5	A Cahn-Hilliard model for droplets	35

# Notation

$B_r(x)$	open ball of radius $r$ centered at $x$ ;
$B_r$	open ball $B_r(0)$ ;
$\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$	set of finite signed Borel measures on $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;
$\mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$	set of finite positive Borel measures on $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;
$ au_x \mu$	Borel measure $A \mapsto \mu(A - x)$ if $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ;
$c_B \mu$	Borel measure $\tau_{-x}(\mu \sqcup B)$ if B is the ball $B_r(x)$ ;
$\mu_{\ell} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_0} \mu$	weak convergence of measures, i.e. weak- $\star$ convergence in duality with the space $\mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of continuous functions vanishing at infinity;
$\mu_\ell \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_b} \mu$	narrow convergence of measures, i.e. weak- $\star$ convergence in duality with the space of continuous and bounded function $\mathcal{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ;
$\Sigma$	set of increasing maps $\sigma : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N};$
$\sigma_1 \preceq \sigma_2$	$\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \Sigma$ are such that $\sigma_1(\llbracket n, +\infty \rrbracket) \subseteq \sigma_2(\mathbb{N})$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

# **1** Introduction

# 1.1 Setting

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and let  $f : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  be a Borel function. Consider the following energy functional, defined for any fixed  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  on the set of finite Borel measures  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  by

$$\mathcal{E}_{f}^{x}(u) = \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} f(x, u(y), \nabla u(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y & \text{if } u \in W_{\mathrm{loc}}^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

The minimization of this energy energy under a mass constraint gives rise to the notion of minimal cost function, defined by

$$H_f(x,m) \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \mathcal{E}_f^x(u) : u \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,1} \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ such that } \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m \right\} \in [0,+\infty].$$
(1.2)

Note that the minimization can be restricted to non-negative functions when  $m \ge 0$  and non-positive functions when  $m \le 0$ , as explained in Remark 2.2.

As a preliminary result, which deserves interest on its own, we will establish the following:

**Theorem 1.1.** Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . The map  $m \mapsto H_f(x,m)$  is concave non-decreasing on  $(0, +\infty)$ . If we further assume that f(x,0,0) = 0 then  $H_f(x,0) = 0$  and  $H_f(x,\cdot)$  is either identically  $+\infty$  on  $(0, +\infty)$  or continuous on  $[0, +\infty)$ ; it is in particular lower semicontinuous on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . A similar statement holds on  $(-\infty, 0]$ .

The proof is very simple and works with no further assumptions on f.

Our main purpose is to prove that under some conditions, if  $(f_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  is a family of functions  $f_{\varepsilon}: \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  converging pointwise to f as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , then the rescaled energy functionals  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$ , defined for each  $\varepsilon > 0$  on  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  by

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f_{\varepsilon}(x, \varepsilon^N u(x), \varepsilon^{N+1} \nabla u(x)) \varepsilon^{-N} \, \mathrm{d}x & \text{if } u \in W^{1,1}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

 $\Gamma$ -converge as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , for the narrow or weak convergence of measures, to the  $H_f$ -mass, defined on  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  by (see Definition 2.3):

$$\mathbf{M}^{H_f}(u) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_f(x, u(\{x\})) \,\mathrm{d}\,\mathcal{H}^0(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H'_f(x, 0^+) \,\mathrm{d}u^d_+(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H'_f(x, 0^-) \,\mathrm{d}u^d_-(x).$$

where  $u = u^a + u^d$  is the decomposition of u into its atomic part  $u^a$  and its diffuse part  $u^d$ , and  $u^d = u^d_+ - u^d_-$  is the decomposition of  $u^d$  into positive and negative parts, and  $H'_f(x, 0^{\pm}) = \lim_{m \to 0^{\pm}} \frac{H_f(x, m)}{|m|} \in [0, +\infty].$ This kind of singular limit in integral functionals is reminiscent of several variational mod-

This kind of singular limit in integral functionals is reminiscent of several variational models with physical relevance which have been the object of intensive mathematical analysis, such as Cahn-Hilliard fluids with concentration on droplets [BDS96] or on singular interfaces [MM77], toy models for micromagnetism and liquid crystals like Aviles-Giga [AG99] and Landau-de Gennes [BPP12], or Ginzburg-Landau theory of supraconductivity [Hél94].

The fact that  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  is expected to be the  $\Gamma$ -limit of  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$  is due to the following observation: if  $B_r(x_0) \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $u_{\varepsilon}(x) \coloneqq \varepsilon^{-N} v_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon^{-1}(x-x_0))$ , then  $\int_{B_r(x_0)} u_{\varepsilon} = \int_{B_{r/\varepsilon}} v_{\varepsilon}$  and

$$\int_{B_r(x_0)} f_{\varepsilon}(x, \varepsilon^N u_{\varepsilon}(x), \varepsilon^{N+1} \nabla u_{\varepsilon}(x)) \varepsilon^{-N} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{B_{r/\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon}(x_0 + \varepsilon y, v_{\varepsilon}(y), \nabla v_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y,$$

so that the energy contribution of a mass  $m \ge 0$  contained in a ball  $B_r(x_0)$  should be of the order of  $H_f(x_0, m)$ , where r is arbitrary.

Nevertheless, it is not true in general that  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  is the  $\Gamma$ -limit of the functionals  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$  (see Section 1.3 below). We will need a couple of assumptions on f and  $f_{\varepsilon}$  detailed in the next section.

#### 1.2 Assumptions and main result

Our first two assumptions are rather standard and guarantee the sequential lower semicontinuity of the functionals  $\mathcal{E}_{f}^{x}$ ,

- (H<sub>1</sub>)  $f : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  is lower semicontinuous,
- (H<sub>2</sub>)  $f(x, u, \cdot)$  is convex for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N, u \in \mathbb{R}$ .

In order for vanishing parts to have no energetic contribution, we will impose

(H<sub>3</sub>) f(x,0,0) = 0 for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

We also need continuity in the spatial variable,

(H<sub>4</sub>)  $f(\cdot, u, \xi)$  is continuous for every  $u \in \mathbb{R}_+, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

Next, we need a compactness assumption which ensures relative compactness in the weak topology of  $W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for sequences of bounded energy  $\mathcal{E}_f^x$  and bounded mass; it will also be needed in obtaining lower bounds for the energy (see Proposition 3.8):

# (H<sub>5</sub>) there exist $\alpha, \beta \in (0, +\infty)$ , $p \in (1, +\infty)$ such that for all $(x, u, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ , $f(x, u, \xi) \ge \alpha |\xi|^p - \beta u.$

We also impose a condition on the slope of  $f(x, \cdot, \xi)$  at the origin which will be needed in order to identify the initial slope of  $H_f(x, \cdot)$  (see Section 2.3), and rules out some nontrivial scale invariant Lagrangians for which the expected  $\Gamma$ -convergence result fails (see Section 1.3),

(H<sub>6</sub>) for every  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

$$f'_{-}(x_0, 0^{\pm}, 0) \coloneqq \liminf_{(x, u, \xi) \to (x_0, 0^{\pm}, 0)} \frac{f(x, u, \xi)}{|u|} \ge \limsup_{u \to 0^{\pm}} \sup_{|\xi| \le 1} \frac{f(x_0, u, \rho(|u|)\xi)}{|u|},$$
(1.4)

with  $\rho \equiv 0$  if N = 1 and for some  $\rho \in \mathcal{C}((0, 1], (0, +\infty))$  satisfying

$$\int_0^1 \Big(\int_y^1 \frac{\mathrm{d} t}{\rho(t)}\Big)^N \,\mathrm{d} y < +\infty \quad \text{if } N \geq 2.$$

Since our aim is not to care much about the dependence on x, we shall impose a spatial quasi-homogeneity condition:

(H<sub>7</sub>) there exists  $C < +\infty$  such that for every  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N, u \in \mathbb{R}, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

$$f(y, u, \xi) \le C(f(x, u, \xi) + u).$$

Last of all, we need the family of functions  $f_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  to converge towards f in a suitable sense, namely, we assume

(H<sub>8</sub>)  $f_{\varepsilon} \uparrow f$  and  $f'_{\varepsilon,-}(\cdot, 0^{\pm}, 0) \uparrow f'_{-}(\cdot, 0^{\pm}, 0)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

Notice that this assumption is empty if  $f_{\varepsilon}$  does not depend on  $\varepsilon$ .

Our main result is the following:

**Theorem 1.2.** If  $(f_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  satisfies  $(H_8)$  with each  $f_{\varepsilon}$  satisfying  $(H_1)-(H_5)$  and the limit f satisfying  $(H_6)-(H_7)$ , then  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  is the  $\Gamma$ -limit as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  of the functionals  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$ , defined in (1.3), for both the weak convergence and the narrow convergence of measures.

In particular, as a  $\Gamma$ -limit, the functional  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  must be lower semicontinuous for the weak convergence of measures (and so for the narrow convergence as well). This implies that  $H_f$ is lower semicontinuous on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$  (see Proposition 2.5).

We point out that for the  $\Gamma$  – lim sup, we need weaker assumptions on  $f_{\varepsilon}$  and f (see Proposition 4.2), which will be useful for some applications (see Section 5.5).

#### 1.3 Examples, counterexamples and applications

We start with two counterexamples, justifying the importance of  $(H_6)$  and  $(H_3)$ , and we then provide several examples satisfying our assumptions. Decomposing measures into positive and negative parts, allows us to restrict our attention to positive measures, which we will do in all our examples. This can be thought as taking Lagrangians such that  $f(x, u, \xi) = +\infty$ when u < 0.

Scale invariant Lagrangians. In the particular case where  $f_{\varepsilon} \equiv f$  and  $f(x, u, \xi) = u^{-p(1-\frac{1}{p^{\star}})} |\xi|^p$ , with  $p \in (1, N)$  and  $p^{\star} = \frac{pN}{N-p}$ , we find that

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(x, \varepsilon^N u, \varepsilon^{N+1} \nabla u) \varepsilon^{-N} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{-p(1-\frac{1}{p^*})} |\nabla u|^p = \mathcal{E}_f(u),$$

i.e. the rescaled energies  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$  do not depend on  $\varepsilon > 0$ . A scaling analysis also shows that the associated cost function satisfies  $H_f(m) = m^{1-\frac{p}{N}}H_f(1)$ . Moreover, it can be seen that  $0 < H_f(1) < +\infty$ , which implies that the  $\Gamma$ -limit of  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$ , which is nothing but the lower semicontinuous relaxation of  $\mathcal{E}_f$ , does not coincide with  $\mathbf{M}_{H_f}$ . Considering the perturbation of f given by  $\tilde{f}(x, u, \xi) = f(x, u, \xi) + |\xi|^p$ , we find a Lagrangian satisfying all our assumptions except ( $\mathbf{H}_6$ ) (note that  $|\xi|^p$  is needed in ( $\mathbf{H}_5$ )), and such that the associated rescaled energies do not  $\Gamma$ -converge to  $\mathbf{M}_{H_f}$  (see Section 5.1). Hence, an assumption like ( $\mathbf{H}_6$ ) is required in our  $\Gamma$ -convergence result. We will even see that the lower semicontinuity of  $H_f$  and  $\mathbf{M}_{H_f}$ is not guaranteed without ( $\mathbf{H}_6$ ).

Lagrangians giving energy to vanishing functions. By assumption (H<sub>3</sub>) no energy is given to any part where a function u vanishes. It is a necessary condition for  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  to be lower semicontinuous (a necessary condition to be a  $\Gamma$ -limit) and not identically  $+\infty$ . Indeed if  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  is lower semicontinuous and finite for some measure  $u \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then thanks to Theorem 2.1 we know that  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}(tu) \leq \mathbf{M}^{H_f}(u)$  for every  $t \in (0, 1)$  and thus  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}(0) \leq$  $\liminf_{t\to 0^+} \mathbf{M}^{H_f}(tu) \leq \mathbf{M}^{H_f}(u) < +\infty$ . Thus  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  is not identically  $+\infty$  if and only if  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}(0) < +\infty$ , i.e.  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_f(x, 0) \, \mathrm{d} \, \mathcal{H}^0(x) < +\infty$ . But since  $H_f(x, 0) = (+\infty) \times f(x, 0, 0)$ this can only happen if  $f(\cdot, 0, 0) \equiv 0$ . This justifies imposing (H<sub>3</sub>).

Concave *H*-masses in dimension one. Consider the energy

$$\mathcal{E}_f(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 + c(u)$$
 with Lagrangian  $f(x, u, \xi) = |\xi|^2 + c(u).$ 

In dimension N = 1, it is shown in [Wir19] that for any concave continuous function H with H(0) = 0, there exists a suitable  $c \ge 0$  such that  $H_f = H$ . As explained in Section 5.2, Theorem 1.2 implies that the rescaled energies

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(\varepsilon^N u, \varepsilon^{N+1} \nabla u) \varepsilon^{-N} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \varepsilon^{N+2} |\nabla u|^2 + \varepsilon^{-N} c(\varepsilon^N u).$$
(1.5)

 $\Gamma$ -converge to  $\mathbf{M}^{H}$ , leading to an elliptic approximation of any concave H-mass in dimension one. In dimension  $N \geq 2$ , we will show that  $H_f$  must be concave on  $(0, +\infty)$ , and strictly concave after the possible initial interval where it is linear (see Proposition 2.8); however, we have no solution to the inverse problem, consisting in characterizing the class of attainable cost functions  $H = H_f$  for Lagrangians f satisfying our assumptions. Homogeneous *H*-masses in any dimension. We consider the functional

$$\mathcal{E}_f(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u, \nabla u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^p + u^s, \quad p > 1, \ s \in (-p', 1].$$
(1.6)

Then, the rescaled energies

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(\varepsilon^N u, \varepsilon^{N+1} \nabla u) \varepsilon^{-N} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \varepsilon^{pN+p-N} |\nabla u|^p + \varepsilon^{-(1-s)N} u^s$$

Γ-converge to a non-trivial multiple of some α-mass  $\mathbf{M}^{\alpha} := \mathbf{M}^{t \mapsto t^{\alpha}}$  where the exponent  $\alpha = (1 - \frac{s}{p} + \frac{s}{N})(1 - \frac{s}{p} + \frac{1}{N})^{-1}$  ranges over  $(1 - \frac{2}{N+1}, 1]$  when (s, p) varies in its range and  $N \ge 2$ . More cases, with details, are given in Section 5.3.

Cahn-Hilliard approximations of droplets models. Following the works of [BDS96; Dub98], we consider the functionals

$$\mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \varepsilon^{-\rho} (W(u) + \varepsilon |\nabla u|^2), \qquad (1.7)$$

where  $W(t) \sim_{t \to +\infty} t^s$  for some exponent  $s \in (-2, 1)$ . As shown in Section 5.5, we way rewrite these functionals to fit our general framework, and recover known  $\Gamma$ -convergence results, under slightly more general assumptions, as stated in Theorem 5.1. The  $\Gamma$ -limit is a nontrivial multiple of the  $\alpha$ -mass with  $\alpha = \frac{1-s/2+s/N}{1-s/2+1/N}$ .

Elliptic approximations of Branched Transport. The energy of Branched Transport (see [BCM09] for an account of the theory), in its Eulerian formulation, is an *H*-mass defined this time on vector measures w whose divergence is also a measure,

$$\mathbf{M}_{1}^{H}(w) \coloneqq \int_{\Sigma} H(x,\theta(x)) \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{1}(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H'(x,0^{+}) \,\mathrm{d}|w^{\perp}|, \tag{1.8}$$

where  $w = \theta \xi \cdot \mathcal{H}^1 \sqcup \Sigma + w^{\perp}$  is the decomposition of w into its 1-rectifiable and 1-diffuse parts (see Section 5.4 for more details). An elliptic approximation of Modica-Mortola type has been introduced in [OS11] for  $H(m) = m^{\alpha}, \alpha \in (0, 1)$ , and their  $\Gamma$ -convergence result in dimension d = 2 has been extended to any dimension in [Mon15] by a slicing method which relates the energy of w to the energy of its slicings. The same slicing method, together with Theorem 1.2, would allow to prove the  $\Gamma$ -convergence of the functionals

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(w) = \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f_{\varepsilon}(x, \varepsilon^{d-1} |w|(x), \varepsilon^d |\nabla w|(x)) \varepsilon^{1-d} \, \mathrm{d}x & \text{if } w \in W^{1,1}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(1.9)

toward  $\mathbf{M}_1^{H_f}$  for Lagrangians  $f_{\varepsilon} \to f$  satisfying  $(\mathbf{H}_1)-(\mathbf{H}_8)$ , thus covering a wide range of concave *H*-masses.

#### 1.4 Structure of the paper

In Section 2, we prove the concavity of the cost function  $H_f$  with respect to the mass variable m in full generality (Theorem 2.1), we establish useful properties of general H-masses, and we identify the slope at the origin of  $H_f$  in terms of f under our assumption (Proposition 2.6 and Proposition 2.7). In Section 3, we apply a concentration-compactness principle to provide a profile decomposition theorem for sequences of positive measures (Theorem 3.2), which is used to obtain our main lower bound for the energy  $\mathcal{E}_f$  (Proposition 3.10) and also yields an existence criterion for profiles with minimal energy under a mass constraint (Proposition 3.12). Section 4 is dedicated to proving lower and upper bounds on the rescaled energies  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$  (Proposition 4.1 and Proposition 4.2) that imply in particular our main  $\Gamma$ -convergence result (Theorem 1.2). Last of all, in Section 5, we provide several examples of energy functionals that fall into our framework, as summarized in the previous section.

## 2 Minimal cost function and *H*-mass

In this section, we study the properties of general *H*-masses, of costs  $H_f$  associated with general Lagrangians f, and we relate the slope of  $H_f$  at m = 0 to that of f at  $(u, \xi) = (0, 0)$  in the variable u, under particular conditions.

#### 2.1 Concavity and lower semicontinuity of the cost function

Our concavity result stated in Theorem 1.1 is a consequence of:

**Theorem 2.1.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  be Borel measurable and for every  $m \in \mathbb{R}_+$ ,

$$H_f(m) \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \mathcal{E}_f(u) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u, \nabla u) : u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+), \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m \right\}.$$
 (2.1)

Then  $H_f$  is either identically  $+\infty$  on  $(0, +\infty)$ , or it is continuous, concave, non-decreasing on  $(0, +\infty)$  with  $\lim_{m\to 0^+} H_f(m) = 0$ .

The fact that Theorem 2.1 implies Theorem 1.1 is due to the following remark.

Remark 2.2. The minimization in (1.2) can be restricted to non-negative (resp. non-positive) functions when  $m \ge 0$  (resp.  $m \le 0$ ). For instance fix  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $m \ge 0$ , and take  $u \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,1} \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m$ . If  $u = u_+ - u_-$  is the decomposition of  $u \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,1} \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into positive and negative parts, then  $\mathcal{E}_f^x(u) = \mathcal{E}_g(u_+) + \mathcal{E}_{\tilde{g}}(u_-)$ , with  $g(u,\xi) = f(x, u,\xi)$  and  $\tilde{g}(u,\xi) = f(x, -u, -\xi)$  for  $(u,\xi) \ne (0,0)$ ,  $\tilde{g}(0,0) = 0$ . In particular  $\mathcal{E}_f^x(u) \ge H_g(m_+) + H_{\tilde{g}}(m_-)$  where  $m_{\pm} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_{\pm}$ . Since  $H_g$  is non-decreasing on  $(0, +\infty)$  and  $H_{\tilde{g}}$  is non-negative, we have thus  $\mathcal{E}_f^x(u) \ge H_g(m)$  since  $m_+ \ge m$ . A similar reasoning holds for non-positive functions when  $m \le 0$ .

Note that, considering Lagrangians f taking infinite values, Theorem 2.1 covers the case where we have a constraint  $(u, \nabla u) \in A$ , where  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$  is Borel measurable.

*Proof.* We first prove that  $H_f$  is concave on  $(0, +\infty)$ . Let m > 0 and  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+)$ such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m$ . We pick a non-zero vector  $v \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , we set  $u^t(\cdot) = u(\cdot + tv)$  and

$$u \wedge u^t(\cdot) = \inf\{u(\cdot), u^t(\cdot)\}, \quad u \vee u^t(\cdot) = \sup\{u(\cdot), u^t(\cdot)\}.$$

We have  $u \wedge u^t + u \vee u^t = u + u^t$ . Hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \wedge u^t + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \vee u^t = 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = 2m.$$
(2.2)

Moreover, it is standard that  $u \wedge u^t = u - (u^t - u)_- \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  with  $\nabla(u \wedge u^t) = \nabla u$ a.e. in  $\{u \leq u^t\}$  and  $\nabla(u \wedge u^t) = \nabla u^t$  a.e. in  $\{u > u^t\}$ . Since  $u \vee u^t = u + u^t - u \wedge u^t$ , we have similar identities for  $u \vee u^t$ , and we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}_f(u \wedge u^t) + \mathcal{E}_f(u \vee u^t) = \mathcal{E}_f(u) + \mathcal{E}_f(u^t) = 2\mathcal{E}_f(u).$$
(2.3)

Now, let  $M: t \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \wedge u^t$ . In view of (2.2), (2.3), and by definition of H, we have proved

$$H_f(M(t)) + H_f(2m - M(t)) \le 2\mathcal{E}_f(u).$$
 (2.4)

Now, by continuity of translations in  $L^1$  and since the map  $(x, y) \mapsto x \wedge y$  is Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , we have that M is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$  with M(0) = m. Moreover  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} M(t) = 0$  by dominated convergence. So, by the intermediate value theorem  $M(\mathbb{R}) \supseteq (0, m]$ . Hence, we have proved  $H_f(\theta) + H_f(2m - \theta) \leq 2\mathcal{E}_f(u)$  for every  $\theta \in (0, m]$ . Taking the infimum over u such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m$ , we obtain

$$\frac{H_f(\theta) + H_f(2m - \theta)}{2} \le H_f(m), \quad \forall \theta \in (0, m],$$

that is,  $H_f$  is midpoint concave on  $(0, +\infty)$ . Since  $H_f$  is also bounded below (by 0), we can deduce that  $H_f$  is concave  $(0, +\infty)$  (see [RV73, Section 72]).

We now justify that if  $H_f(m) < +\infty$  for some m > 0, then  $\lim_{m\to 0^+} H_f(m) = 0$ . By concavity, this will imply that  $H_f$  is finite, continuous and non-decreasing on  $(0, +\infty)$ . Let  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+)$  such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m > 0$  and  $\mathcal{E}_f(u) < +\infty$ , and set

$$t_* := \sup\{t \ge 0 : M(t) > 0\} \in [0, +\infty], \text{ where } M(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \wedge u^t.$$

Since M is continuous with  $M(0) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u > 0$  and  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} M(t) = 0$  as seen above, we have that  $t_* \in (0, +\infty]$ ,  $\lim_{t \to t_*} M(t) = 0$  and M(t) does not vanish near  $t_*$ . Moreover, if  $t_* = +\infty$ , since  $u^t \to 0$  locally in measure, by dominated convergence,

$$\limsup_{m \to 0^+} H_f(m) \le \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \mathcal{E}_f(u \wedge u^t) = \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \int_{\{u < u^t\}} f(u, \nabla u) + \int_{\{u^{-t} \ge u\}} f(u, \nabla u) = 0.$$

If  $t_* < +\infty$ , we have  $u \wedge u^{t_*} = 0$  a.e. and  $u^t \to u^{t_*}$  locally in measure as  $t \to t_*$  by continuity of translation in  $L^1$ . Thus using dominated convergence again,

$$\limsup_{m \to 0^+} H_f(m) \le \limsup_{t \to (t_*)^-} \mathcal{E}_f(u \wedge u^t) = \limsup_{t \to (t_*)^-} \int_{\{u < u^t\}} f(u, \nabla u) + \int_{\{u^{-t} \ge u\}} f(u, \nabla u)$$
$$= \int_{\{u < u^{t_*}\}} f(u, \nabla u) + \int_{\{u^{-t_*} \ge u\}} f(u, \nabla u).$$

Besides,

$$+\infty > \int_{\{u < u^{t_*}\}} f(u, \nabla u) + \int_{\{u^{-t_*} \ge u\}} f(u, \nabla u) = \mathcal{E}_f(u \wedge u^{t_*}) = f(0, 0) \times (+\infty),$$

which implies that  $f(0,0) = 0 = H_f(0)$  and  $\limsup_{m \to 0^+} H_f(m) = 0$ .

#### 2.2 *H*-transform and *H*-mass

**Definition 2.3.** Let  $H : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$  be a Borel measurable function having left/right slopes at the origin defined for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  by

$$H'(x,0^{\pm}) \coloneqq \lim_{m \to 0^{\pm}} \frac{H(x,m)}{|m|} \in [0,+\infty].$$
 (2.5)

We define the *H*-transform of a finite signed Borel measure  $u \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  as:

$$H(u) \coloneqq H(\cdot, u(\{\cdot\})) \mathcal{H}^0 + H'(\cdot, 0^+) u_+^d + H'(\cdot, 0^-) u_-^d$$

where  $u = u^a + u^d$  is the decomposition of u into its atomic part  $u^a$  and its diffuse (or nonatomic) part  $u^d$ ,  $u^d = u^d_+ - u^d_-$  is the Hahn decomposition of  $u^d$  into positive and negative parts.

The *H*-mass of u is then defined as the total variation of H(u), that is:

$$\mathbf{M}^{H}(u) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} H(x, u(\{x\})) \,\mathrm{d}\,\mathcal{H}^{0}(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} H'(x, 0^{+}) \,\mathrm{d}u^{d}_{+}(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} H'(x, 0^{-}) \,\mathrm{d}u^{d}_{-}(x).$$

 $\mathbf{M}^{H}(u)$  is a natural spatially non-homogeneous extension (depending on the position x) of the *H*-mass of *k*-dimensional flat currents<sup>1</sup> from Geometric Measure Theory, introduced by [Fle66] (see also the more recent works [DH03; Col+17]).

From [BB90], we have the following result<sup>2</sup>:

**Proposition 2.4** ([BB90]). Assume that  $H : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$  is lower semicontinuous and that for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , H(x, 0) = 0 and the map  $m \mapsto H(x, m)$  is concave on  $(0, +\infty)$  and  $(-\infty, 0)$ . Then  $\mathbf{M}^H$  is sequentially lower semicontinuous on  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for the weak topology.

From another work from the same authors [BB93, Theorem 3.2], we know that under some further assumptions on H,  $\mathbf{M}^{H}$  is the relaxation for the weak topology of the functional

$$\mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{atom}}^{H}(u) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{k} H(x_{i}, m_{i}) & \text{if } u = \sum_{i=1}^{k} m_{i} \delta_{x_{i}} \text{ with } k \in \mathbb{N}^{*}, \, x_{i} \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, \, m_{i} \in \mathbb{R}, \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We need a slightly different result<sup>3</sup>, namely that for any function  $H : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$ satisfying all the assumptions of Proposition 2.4 except the lower semicontinuity, the relaxation of  $\mathbf{M}_{\text{atom}}^H$  for the <u>narrow</u> sequential convergence is  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{\text{lsc}}}$ , where  $H_{\text{lsc}}$  is the lower semicontinuous envelope of H, which can be expressed as

$$H_{\rm lsc}(x,m) = \sup\{G(x,m) : G \le H \text{ with } G \text{ lower semicontinuous.}\}.$$
 (2.6)

It is straightforward to check that if H(x,0) = 0 and  $H(x, \cdot)$  is concave on  $(-\infty, 0)$  and  $(0, +\infty)$ , then these properties hold also for  $H_{lsc}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In the case k = 0, since signed measures are merely 0-currents with finite mass.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In the notations of this paper, we take  $\mu = 0$  and  $f(x, s) = |s|^2$ ; we have  $\varphi_{f,\mu}(x, 0) = 0$  and  $\varphi_{f,\mu}(x, s) = +\infty$  if  $s \neq 0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In [BB93, Theorem 3.2], H is assumed to be lower semicontinuous and the authors make a further coercivity assumption (assumption (3.5) in the paper) that we want to avoid.

**Proposition 2.5.** Let  $H : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$  be a function such that for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , H(x,0) = 0 and the map  $m \mapsto H(x,m)$  is concave on  $(0,+\infty)$  and  $(-\infty,0)$ . Then, the sequentially lower semicontinuous envelope of  $\mathbf{M}_{\text{atom}}^H$  in the narrow topology of  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is given by  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{\text{lsc}}}$ , namely we have:

$$\mathbf{M}^{H_{\rm lsc}} = \sup \Big\{ F : F \leq \mathbf{M}_{\rm atom}^{H}, F \text{ sequentially narrowly l.s.c. on } \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \Big\}.$$
(2.7)

We point out that for a general H, for  $\mathbf{M}^{H}$  to be sequentially lower semicontinuous (for the narrow topology) it is necessary that H is lsc on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times (0, +\infty)$ . However, neither the subadditivity of H in m nor its lower semicontinuity on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+$  are necessary. Indeed,  $\mathbf{M}^{H}$  is sequentially lower semicontinuous if for instance  $H(x,m) = +\infty$  when  $x \neq 0, m > 0$ , H(x,0) = 0 when  $x \neq 0$  and  $H(0, \cdot)$  is any lower semicontinuous function. Nevertheless the mass-subadditivity and lower semicontinuity would be necessary if H did not depend on x.

*Proof of Proposition 2.5.* Since  $H_{\rm lsc}$  is lower semicontinuous and mass-subadditive, we know from Proposition 2.4 that  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{\text{lsc}}}$  is sequentially lower semicontinuous in the weak topology hence also in the narrow topology of  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Since  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{\text{lsc}}} \leq \mathbf{M}^{H}_{\text{atom}}$ , we deduce that  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{\text{lsc}}}$ is lower or equal than the right hand side in (2.7).

In order to prove the opposite inequality, we take  $F: \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R}_+$  the sequentially lower

semicontinuous envelope of  $\mathbf{M}_{\text{atom}}^{H}$  in the narrow topology. We shall see that  $F \leq \mathbf{M}^{H_{\text{lsc}}}$ . We first prove that  $F \leq \mathbf{M}_{\text{atom}}^{H_{\text{lsc}}}$ . For this, we let  $u = \sum_{i=1}^{k} m_i \delta_{x_i}$  be a finitely atomic positive measure and we let  $u_n \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{k} m_{i,n} \delta_{x_{i,n}}$  where for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}, (x_{i,n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of points converging to  $x_i$  and  $m_{i,n}$  is a sequence of non-negative numbers converging to  $m_i$  such that  $H_{lsc}(x_i, m_i) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H(x_{i,n}, m_{i,n})$ . Then  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  converges narrowly to u and, by lower semicontinuity,

$$F(u) \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} F(u_n) \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{M}_{\text{atom}}^H(u_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^k H(x_{i,n}, m_{i,n}) = \sum_{i=1}^k H_{\text{lsc}}(x_i, m_i),$$

so that  $F(u) \leq \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{atom}}^{H_{\mathrm{lsc}}}(u)$  as wanted.

So that  $F(u) \leq \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{atom}}(u)$  as wanted. We now prove that  $F \leq \mathbf{M}^{H_{\mathrm{lsc}}}$ . Let  $u \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , let  $u = u^a + u^d$  be the decomposition of u into its atomic part  $u^a = \sum_{i=1}^k m_i \delta_{x_i}$ , with  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{+\infty\}$  (here, k = 0 if there is no atom), and its diffuse part  $u^d$ , and let  $u^d = u^d_+ - u^d_-$  be the decomposition of  $u^d$  into positive and negative parts. We then discretize  $u^d_{\pm}$  by taking  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , a partition  $(Q^n_i)_{i \in \{1, \dots, (n2^n)^N\}}$ of  $[-n, n)^N$  by means of cubes of the form  $Q^n_i = c^n_i + 2^{-n} [-1, 1)^N$  with  $c^n_i \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , and we define define

$$u_n \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{n \wedge k} m_i \delta_{x_i} + \sum_{i=1}^{(n2^n)^N} u_+^d(Q_i^n) \delta_{x_i^n} + \sum_{i=1}^{(n2^n)^N} u_-^d(Q_i^n) \delta_{y_i^n}$$

where for each  $i \in \{1, ..., (n2^n)^N\}, x_i^n, y_i^n \in \overline{Q}_i^n$  are some points such that

$$H_{\rm lsc}'(x_i^n, 0^+) = \inf_{x \in \bar{Q}_i^n} H_{\rm lsc}'(x, 0^+), \quad H_{\rm lsc}'(y_i^n, 0^-) = \inf_{x \in \bar{Q}_i^n} H_{\rm lsc}'(x, 0^-).$$
(2.8)

Such points exist since  $\bar{Q}_i^n$  is compact and since by concavity,

$$H_{\rm lsc}'(x,0^{\pm}) = \sup_{\pm m>0} \frac{H_{\rm lsc}(x,m)}{|m|},$$
(2.9)

so that  $H'_{\rm lsc}(\cdot, 0^{\pm})$  are lower semicontinuous as suprema of lower semicontinuous functions.

The sequence  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  converges narrowly to u. We deduce using in turn the lower semicontinuity of the functional F, the inequality  $F(u) \leq \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{atom}}^{H_{\mathrm{lsc}}}(u)$ , the subadditivity of  $H_{\mathrm{lsc}}(x, \cdot)$ , (2.9), (2.8), and the monotone convergence, that

$$\begin{split} F(u) &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n \wedge k} H_{\rm lsc}(x_i, m_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{(n2^n)^N} H_{\rm lsc}(x_i^n, u_+^d(Q_i^n)) + \sum_{i=1}^{(n2^n)^N} H_{\rm lsc}(y_i^n, u_-^d(Q_i^n)), \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n \wedge k} H_{\rm lsc}(x_i, m_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{(n2^n)^N} H_{\rm lsc}'(x_i^n, 0^+) u_+^d(Q_i^n) + \sum_{i=1}^{(n2^n)^N} H_{\rm lsc}'(y_i^n, 0^-) u_-^d(Q_i^n) \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n \wedge k} H_{\rm lsc}(x_i, m_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{(n2^n)^N} \int_{Q_i^n} H_{\rm lsc}'(x, 0^+) \, \mathrm{d}u_+^d + \int_{Q_i^n} H_{\rm lsc}'(x, 0^-) \, \mathrm{d}u_-^d \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^k H_{\rm lsc}(x_i, m_i) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_{\rm lsc}'(x, 0^+) \, \mathrm{d}u_+^d + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_{\rm lsc}'(x, 0^-) \, \mathrm{d}u_-^d \\ &= \mathbf{M}^{H_{\rm lsc}}(u). \end{split}$$

#### 2.3 Slope at the origin of the minimal cost function

**Proposition 2.6.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  be a lower semicontinuous function such that f(0,0) = 0, with  $N \ge 2$ . For every function  $\rho \in \mathcal{C}((0,1], (0, +\infty))$  such that

$$\int_0^1 \left( \int_y^1 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\rho(t)} \right)^N \mathrm{d}y < +\infty, \tag{2.10}$$

the function  $H_f$  defined in (2.1) satisfies

$$\lim_{m \to 0^+} \frac{H_f(m)}{m} \le \limsup_{u \to 0^+} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \frac{f(u, \rho(u)\xi)}{u}.$$
 (2.11)

*Proof.* For every  $y \ge 0$ , we let

$$F(y) = \int_{y}^{1} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\rho(t)} \in [0, +\infty].$$

The function F is decreasing, and belongs to  $C^1((0,1])$  and  $L^N((0,1])$  by assumption. We now consider the solution of the ODE  $v'_{\varepsilon} = -\rho(v_{\varepsilon})$ , with  $v_{\varepsilon}(0) = \varepsilon$ , given by

$$v_{\varepsilon}(r) = \begin{cases} F^{-1}(F(\varepsilon) + r), & \text{if } 0 \le r < F(0) - F(\varepsilon), \\ 0 & \text{if } r \ge F(0) - F(\varepsilon). \end{cases}$$

Notice that  $v_{\varepsilon} \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  because it is nonincreasing and bounded, hence it has finite total variation, and it is of class  $\mathcal{C}^1$  except possibly at  $r_{\varepsilon} \coloneqq F(0) - F(\varepsilon)$ , where it has no jump. As a consequence the radial profile defined by  $u_{\varepsilon}(x) \coloneqq v_{\varepsilon}(|x|)$  belongs to  $W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and we

compute, using the change of variables  $s = v_{\varepsilon}(r)$  (i.e.  $r = F(s) - F(\varepsilon)$ ) and an integration by parts combined with monotone convergence.

$$\begin{split} m_{\varepsilon} &\coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u_{\varepsilon} = |\mathbb{S}^{N-1}| \int_{0}^{\infty} v_{\varepsilon}(r) r^{N-1} \,\mathrm{d}r \\ &= -|\mathbb{S}^{N-1}| \int_{0}^{\varepsilon} s(F(s) - F(\varepsilon))^{N-1} F'(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &= |\mathbb{S}^{N-1}| \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \left( \int_{t}^{\varepsilon} \frac{(F(s) - F(\varepsilon))^{N}}{N} \,\mathrm{d}s - \left[ s \frac{(F(s) - F(\varepsilon))^{N}}{N} \right]_{t}^{\varepsilon} \right) \\ &= |\mathbb{S}^{N-1}| \int_{0}^{\varepsilon} \frac{(F(s) - F(\varepsilon))^{N}}{N} \,\mathrm{d}s \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} 0. \end{split}$$

The equality on the last line holds because  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} \int_t^{\varepsilon} (F - F(\varepsilon))^N < +\infty$  (since  $F \in L^N((0,1])$ ), hence  $\lim_{t\to 0} t(F(t) - F(\varepsilon))^N$  exists by existence of the limit in the previous line, and it must be zero (again, because  $F \in L^N((0,1])$ ).

Moreover, since  $\sup_{[0,+\infty)} v_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon$ ,

$$\mathcal{E}(u_{\varepsilon}) = \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} f(v_{\varepsilon}(r), v_{\varepsilon}'(r)\xi) r^{N-1} \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}r \le m_{\varepsilon} \sup_{u \le \varepsilon, |\xi|=1} \frac{f(u, \rho(u)\xi)}{u}.$$

By assumption, we deduce that

$$\limsup_{m \to 0^+} \frac{H(m)}{m} \le \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{\mathcal{E}(u_\varepsilon)}{m_\varepsilon} \le \limsup_{u \to 0^+} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \frac{f(u, \rho(u)\xi)}{u}.$$

In dimension N = 1, we need no other assumption than  $H < +\infty$ , as stated below.

**Proposition 2.7.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$  be Borel measurable. The function  $H_f$  defined by (2.1) (with N = 1) is either identically infinite on  $(0, +\infty)$ , or it satisfies (2.11) with  $\rho \equiv 0$ .

*Proof.* One can assume that there exists  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}_+)$  with  $0 < \int_{\mathbb{R}} u < +\infty$  and  $\mathcal{E}(u) < +\infty$ . In particular, up to changing the value of u on a negligible set, u is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Let  $\varepsilon \in (0, \sup_{\mathbb{R}} u)$ , set  $A_{\varepsilon} := \{x : u(x) = \varepsilon\}$  which is non-empty by the intermediate value theorem and integrability of u, and define

$$a_{\varepsilon} = \begin{cases} \inf A_{\varepsilon} & \text{if inf } A_{\varepsilon} > -\infty, \\ \text{any point in } (-\infty, -\varepsilon^{-1}) \cap A_{\varepsilon} & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
$$b_{\varepsilon} = \begin{cases} \sup A_{\varepsilon} & \text{if } \sup A_{\varepsilon} < +\infty, \\ \text{any point in } (\varepsilon^{-1}, +\infty) \cap A_{\varepsilon} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

By continuity and integrability of u,  $u(a_{\varepsilon}) = u(b_{\varepsilon}) = \varepsilon$  and  $u < \varepsilon$  on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}]$ . Moreover  $a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}$  converge to points  $-\infty \leq a \leq b \leq +\infty$ , hence u = 0 on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus (a, b)$  and by dominated convergence, since  $\nabla u = 0$  a.e. on  $\{u = 0\}$ ,

$$+\infty > \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}]} u + f(u, \nabla u) = f(0, 0) \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R} \setminus (a, b))$$

Notice that this limit is necessary zero. Let m > 0. If  $\varepsilon$  is small enough, then  $\int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}]} u < m$  so that we can take  $R_{\varepsilon} > 0$  such that  $\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon} = m - \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}]} u$ . We then define

$$u_{\varepsilon}(x) = \begin{cases} u(x) & \text{if } x \leq a_{\varepsilon}, \\ \varepsilon & \text{if } a_{\varepsilon} < x < a_{\varepsilon} + R_{\varepsilon}, \\ u(b_{\varepsilon} + x - (a_{\varepsilon} + R_{\varepsilon})) & \text{if } x \geq a_{\varepsilon} + R_{\varepsilon}, \end{cases}$$

so that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} v_{\varepsilon} = m$ . Moreover,

$$\mathcal{E}(v_{\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{E}(u, \mathbb{R} \setminus [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}]) + R_{\varepsilon} f(\varepsilon, 0)$$

Hence, as  $R_{\varepsilon} = \frac{m+o(1)}{\varepsilon}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ ,

$$H_f(m) \le \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{E}(v_{\varepsilon}) = m \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{f(\varepsilon, 0)}{\varepsilon}.$$

#### **2.4** Strict concavity of the cost function in dimension $N \ge 2$

We show that in dimension  $N \ge 2$ , the cost function must be strictly concave away from the possible initial interval where it is linear:

**Proposition 2.8.** Assume that  $N \ge 2$  and that  $f : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  satisfies  $(H_1)$ ,  $(H_2)$ ,  $(H_5)$  and  $(H_6)$ . Let

$$m_* = \sup\{m \ge 0 : H_f(x_0, \cdot) \text{ is linear on } [0, m]\},\$$

where  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$  is fixed. Then,  $H_f(x_0, \cdot)$  is strictly concave on  $(m_*, +\infty)$ . A similar statement holds on  $\mathbb{R}_-$ .

A similar result does not hold in dimension 1 since any continuous concave function  $H : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  with H(0) = 0 can be written as  $H = H_f$  with f satisfying all our assumptions  $(H_1)-(H_8)$  (see Section 5.2).

In the rest of this section, we will systematically ommit the dependence on  $x_0$  of  $H_f(x_0, m)$  since  $x_0$  is fixed.

We denote by  $\mathcal{M}_m^f$  the set of minimizers of mass  $m \in \mathbb{R}_+$ :

$$\mathcal{M}_m^f := \Big\{ u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+) : \mathcal{E}_f(u) = H_f(m) \text{ and } \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m \Big\}.$$
(2.12)

The proof of Proposition 2.8 is based on the following observation:

**Lemma 2.9.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  be Borel measurable and let  $u_i \in \mathcal{M}_{m_i}^f$  with  $m_i \in \mathbb{R}_+$  for i = 1, 2. Let also  $u_* := \min\{u_1, u_2\}, u^* := \max\{u_1, u_2\}, m_* := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_*$  and  $m^* := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^*$ . If  $H_f$  is affine on  $[m_*, m^*]$  then  $u_* \in \mathcal{M}_{m_*}^f$  and  $u^* \in \mathcal{M}_{m^*}^f$ .

*Proof of Lemma 2.9.* We use the same observations as in the proof of Theorem 2.1. In particular, we have  $m_* + m^* = m_1 + m_2$ ; since  $H_f$  is affine on  $[m_*, m^*]$ , it yields

$$H_f(m_*) + H_f(m^*) = H_f(m_1) + H_f(m_2).$$

But we have also

$$H_f(m_*) + H_f(m^*) \le \mathcal{E}_f(u_*) + \mathcal{E}_f(u^*) = \mathcal{E}_f(u_1) + \mathcal{E}_f(u_2) = H_f(m_1) + H_f(m_2),$$

so that the inequalities we used, i.e.  $H_f(m_*) \leq \mathcal{E}_f(u_*)$  and  $H_f(m^*) \leq \mathcal{E}_f(u^*)$ , are actually equalities.

We also use an elementary Sobolev type inequality:

**Lemma 2.10.** Let  $N \geq 2$ ,  $p \in (1, +\infty)$  and  $\omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$  be a bounded open set. For every  $u \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R} \times \omega)$ ,

$$\int_{\omega} \|u(\cdot, x')\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})} \, \mathrm{d}x' \le \|u\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}\times\omega)} + |\omega|^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \|\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{1}}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}\times\omega)}.$$

*Proof of Lemma 2.10.* We prove the lemma when  $u \in C^1(\mathbb{R} \times \omega)$ ; the general case follows by approximation. For every  $x_1, y_1 \in \mathbb{R}, x' \in \omega$ , we have

$$u(x_1, x') = u(y_1, x') + \int_{y_1}^{x_1} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}(t, x') dt.$$

By averaging in the variable  $y_1$ , we deduce

$$|u(x_1, x')| \le \int_{x_1 - \frac{1}{2}}^{x_1 + \frac{1}{2}} |u(y_1, x')| \, \mathrm{d}y_1 + \int_{x_1 - \frac{1}{2}}^{x_1 + \frac{1}{2}} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}(t, x') \right| \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

The result follows from Hölder inequality after integrating over  $\omega$ .

Proof of Proposition 2.8. Assume by contradiction that the concave function 
$$H_f$$
 is not  
strictly concave on  $(m_*, +\infty)$  which means that there exists  $m \in (m_*, +\infty)$  and  $\eta > 0$   
such that  $H_f$  is affine on  $[m - \eta, m + \eta]$ . (Note that  $\eta \leq m - m_*$  by definition of  $m_*$ .)  
Moreover, we will see in Proposition 3.12 that  $\mathcal{M}_m^f$  is not empty. We let  $u \in \mathcal{M}_m^f$ .

As before, we shall use the notations  $\wedge$  and  $\vee$  for the minimum and maximum; we also let  $(e_1, \ldots, e_N)$  be the canonic basis of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Since the translation operator  $u \mapsto u(\cdot + \tau)$ is continuous in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  (for every  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ), since the map  $(x, y) \mapsto x \wedge y$  is Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N$ , and since the set  $\mathcal{M}_{m+\frac{\eta}{2}}$  is compact in  $L^1$  up to translations in view of the proof of Proposition 3.12, we deduce that there exists  $\tau_0 > 0$  such that

$$\|u \wedge u(\cdot + \tau e_2)\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} > m \quad \text{for all } \tau \in (0, \tau_0) \text{ and } u \in \mathcal{M}^f_{m + \frac{\eta}{2}}.$$
 (2.13)

We now construct by induction a sequence  $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in  $\mathbb{R}_+$  and a sequence  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in  $\mathcal{M}_m^f$  such that

$$t_{n+1} \ge t_n + \tau_0$$
 and  $u_n(x) \le U(x) \wedge U(x + t_n e_2) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , (2.14)

where we have set

$$U(x) := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{t \in \mathbb{R}} u(x + te_1).$$

To this aim, we first set  $u_0 := u$  and  $t_0 = 0$ . Then, if we assume that  $t_n$  and  $u_n$  are constructed as before, we first pick an  $\tau_n^1 \in \mathbb{R}_+$  such that  $v_n := u_n \vee u_n(\cdot + \tau_n^1 e_1)$  satisfies  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v_n = m + \frac{\eta}{2}$ , which is possible since  $\eta \leq m$ , as we argued in the proof of Theorem 2.1. Similarly,

we pick a  $\tau_n^2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$  such that  $u_{n+1} := v_n \wedge v_n(\cdot + \tau_n^2 e_2)$  satisfies  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_{n+1} = m$ , and we set  $t_{n+1} = t_n + \tau_n^2$ . By Lemma 2.9,  $v_n \in \mathcal{M}_{m+\frac{\eta}{2}}^f$  and  $u_n \in \mathcal{M}_m^f$ . By (2.13), we have  $\tau_n^2 \geq \tau_0$ , thus insuring the first condition in (2.14). For the second condition, we observe that for all  $x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

$$u_{n+1}(x) \le \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} u_n(x+te_1) \wedge u_n(x+te_1+\tau_n^2 e_2) \le U(x) \wedge U(x+t_{n+1}e_2),$$

where in the last inequality we have used the induction hypothesis (2.14).

We now show that the sequence  $(u_n \mathcal{L}^N)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is vanishing which will contradict the compactness of  $\mathcal{M}_m^f$  in  $L^1$  up to translations.

For this, we let  $(x_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $(u_{n_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a subsequence of  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{x+[0,1)^N} u_n = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{x_k+[0,1)^N} u_{n_k}.$$

By (H<sub>5</sub>), we have  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Using this fact, the estimate (2.14), and Lemma 2.10 with  $\omega$  a unit cube in  $\mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{x_k + [0,1)^N} u_{n_k} &\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{x_k + [0,1)^N} U \wedge \int_{x_k + t_{n_k} e_2 + [0,1)^N} U \\ &\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \left( \|u\|_{L^1(\{0 \leq (x - x_k) \cdot e_2 \leq 1\})} + \left\|\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}\right\|_{L^p(\{0 \leq (x - x_k) \cdot e_2 \leq 1\})} \right) \\ &\wedge \liminf_{k \to \infty} \left( \|u\|_{L^1(\{t_{n_k} \leq (x - x_k) \cdot e_2 \leq t_{n_k} + 1\})} + \left\|\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}\right\|_{L^p(\{t_{n_k} \leq (x - x_k) \cdot e_2 \leq t_{n_k} + 1\})} \right), \end{split}$$

and the conclusion follows since the sequences  $(x_k \cdot e_2)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$  and  $(t_{n_k} + x_k \cdot e_2)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$  cannot be both bounded as  $\lim_{k \to \infty} t_{n_k} = \infty$ .

## 3 Lower bound for the energy and existence of optimal profiles

Our main tool to localize the energy and obtain a lower bound relies on a profile decomposition for bounded sequences of positive measures, which is reminiscent of the concentration compactness principle of P.-L. Lions. This differs from classical strategies to localize the energy which are based on suitable cut-offs. Naturally, this concentration compactness result also provides a criterion for the existence of optimal profiles in (1.2).

#### 3.1 Profile decomposition by concentration compactness

We prove a profile decomposition theorem for bounded sequences of positive measures over  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , which is essentially equivalent to [Mar14, Theorem 1.5] in the Euclidean case. We have added an extra information on mass conservation that will be useful, and provide a self-contained simple proof. We start with a definition.

**Definition 3.1.** A sequence of positive measures  $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is vanishing if

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^N} \mu_n(B_1(x)) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$$

Any bounded sequence of positive measures over  $\mathbb{R}^N$  may be decomposed (up to subsequence) into a countable collection of narrowly converging "bubbles" and a vanishing part, accounting for the total mass of the sequence, as stated in the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.2.** For every bounded sequence  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  of positive Borel measures on  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , there exists a subsequence  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})}$ ,  $\sigma\in\Sigma$ , a non-decreasing sequence of integers  $(k_n)_{n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})}$  converging to some  $k\in\mathbb{N}\cup\{+\infty\}$ , a sequence of non-trivial positive Borel measures  $(\mu^i)_{0\leq i< k}$ , and for every  $n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})$ , a collection of balls  $(B_n^i)_{0\leq i< k_n}$  centered at points of supp  $\mu_n$  such that, writing for all  $n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})$ ,

$$\mu_n = \mu_n^b + \mu_n^v, \quad where \ \mu_n^b = \sum_{0 \le i < k_n} \mu_n \, \sqcup \, B_n^i,$$
(3.1)

(A) bubbles emerge:  $(c_{B_n^i}\mu_n)_{n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathcal{C}'_b} \mu^i$  for every  $i < k, \stackrel{4}{}$ 

- (B) bubbles split:  $\min_{0 \le i < j < k_n} \operatorname{dist}(B_n^i, B_n^j) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} +\infty$ ,
- (C) bubbles diverge:  $\min_{0 \le i < k_n} \operatorname{diam}(B_n^i) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} +\infty$ ,
- (D) the bubbling mass is conserved:  $\|\mu_n^b\| \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \sum_{0 \le i < k} \|\mu^i\|$ ,
- (E) the remaining part is vanishing:  $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^N} \mu_n^v(B_1(x)) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$

Before proving Theorem 3.2, we introduce the "bubbling" function of a sequence of finite signed measures  $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ :

$$m((\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}) \coloneqq \sup\left\{\|\mu\| : (\tau_{-x_{\sigma(\ell)}}\mu_{\sigma(\ell)})_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_0} \mu, \, \sigma\in\Sigma, \, x_{\sigma(\ell)}\in\mathbb{R}^N\,(\forall\ell)\right\}.$$
(3.2)

Although we will use this function on signed measures, we will start from a sequence of positive measures and use the following characterization of vanishing sequences, which holds only in the case of positive measures:

**Lemma 3.3.** A sequence  $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of finite positive measures is vanishing if and only if  $m((\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Assume that  $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is vanishing and that  $(\tau_{-x_{\sigma(\ell)}} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)})_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_{0_{\lambda}}} \mu$  for some  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  and some sequence of points  $(x_{\sigma(\ell)})_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}$ . Then, for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

$$\mu(B_1(x)) \le \liminf_{\ell \to \infty} \tau_{-x_{\sigma(\ell)}} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)}(B_1(x)) = \liminf_{\ell \to \infty} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)}(B_1(x + x_{\sigma(\ell)})) = 0$$

i.e.  $\mu = 0$  and thus  $m((\mu_{\ell})_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}) = 0$ .

Conversely, if  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is not vanishing, then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  a sequence of points  $(x_n)_{n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that  $\mu_n(B_1(x_n)) \ge \varepsilon$  for every  $n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})$ . Up to further extraction, one can assume that  $(\tau_{-x_{\sigma(\ell)}}\mu_{\sigma(\ell)})_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{C'_0} \mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . We have

$$\mu(\bar{B}_1(0)) \ge \limsup_{\ell \to \infty} \tau_{-x_{\sigma(\ell)}} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)}(\bar{B}_1(0)) = \limsup_{\ell \to \infty} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)}(\bar{B}_1(x_{\sigma(\ell)})) \ge \varepsilon > 0,$$

which entails  $m((\mu_{\ell})_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}) \geq \varepsilon > 0.$ 

<sup>4</sup>Recall that  $c_B \mu = (x \mapsto x - y)_{\sharp}(\mu \sqcup B)$  if  $B = B_r(y)$  and  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Proof of Theorem 3.2. If  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is vanishing, then we take  $\sigma = \text{Id}$  and k = 0, so that  $\mu_{\sigma(\ell)} = \mu_{\ell} = \mu_{\ell}^{v}$ , (A) to (D) are empty statements and (E) is satisfied since  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is vanishing. Assume on the contrary that  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is not vanishing. We shall construct the bubbles by induction and prove their properties in several steps.

<u>Step 1: construction of bubbles centers.</u> At first step (step 0), since  $m((\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}) > 0$ , there exists  $\sigma_0 \in \Sigma$  and a sequence of points  $(x_n^0)_{n \in \sigma_0(\mathbb{N})}$ , such that

$$(\tau_{-x_n^0}\mu_n)_{n\in\sigma_0(\mathbb{N})} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_{0_{\lambda}}} \mu^0 \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N) \quad \text{with} \quad \|\mu^0\| \ge \frac{1}{2}m((\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}).$$
(3.3)

We then set  $\mu_n^0 \coloneqq \mu_n - \tau_{x_n^0} \mu^0$  and we continue by induction, starting from the sequence  $(\mu_n^0)_{n \in \sigma_0(\mathbb{N})}$ . More precisely, assume that for a fixed step  $k - 1 \in \mathbb{N}$ , for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $0 \leq i \leq k - 1$ , we have built  $\mu^i \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $\sigma_i \in \Sigma$ , points  $(x_n^i)_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})}$  and sequences  $(\mu_n^i)_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})} \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  such that for every i,

$$\sigma_i \preceq \sigma_{i-1},\tag{3.4}$$

$$\mu_n^i = \mu_n - \sum_{0 \le j \le i} \tau_{x_n^j} \mu^j, \quad (\forall n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})),$$
(3.5)

$$(\tau_{-x_n^i} \mu_n^{i-1})_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_{0_{\lambda}}} \mu^i, \tag{3.6}$$

$$\|\mu^{i}\| \ge \frac{1}{2}m((\mu_{n}^{i})_{n \in \sigma_{i}(\mathbb{N})}) > 0, \qquad (3.7)$$

where  $\sigma_{-1} \coloneqq \text{Id}, (\mu_n^{-1}) \coloneqq (\mu_n)$ . If  $m((\mu_n^{k-1})_{n \in \sigma_{k-1}(\mathbb{N})}) = 0$ , we stop; otherwise, we proceed to the next step k to build  $\sigma_k, \mu^k, (x_n^k)_{n \in \sigma_k(\mathbb{N})}, (\mu_n^k)$  as we did at step k = 0, starting with  $(\mu_n^{k-1})_{n \in \sigma_{k-1}(\mathbb{N})}$ . Either the induction stops at some step  $k - 1 \in \mathbb{N}$  for which  $m((\mu_n^{k-1})_{n \in \sigma_{k-1}(\mathbb{N})}) = 0$  or the previous objects are defined for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ , in which case we let  $k \coloneqq +\infty$ .

Step 2: splitting of bubbles centers. We prove that

$$\lim_{\sigma_i(\mathbb{N}) \ni n \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(x_n^i, x_n^j) = +\infty \quad \text{for every } i, j \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } 0 \le j < i < k.$$
(3.8)

Indeed, assume by contradiction that there is a first index i < k such that for some  $j_0 < i$ ,  $(\operatorname{dist}(x_n^i, x_n^{j_0}))_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})}$  is not divergent. In particular, there exists  $\sigma \leq \sigma_i$  such that  $(x_n^i - x_n^{j_0})_{n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})} \to x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Moreover,  $(\operatorname{dist}(x_n^i, x_n^j))_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})} \to \infty$ , for every  $j < i, j \neq j_0$ by minimality of i and the triangle inequality  $\operatorname{dist}(x_n^j, x_n^{j_0}) \leq \operatorname{dist}(x_n^j, x_n^i) + \operatorname{dist}(x_n^i, x_n^{j_0})$ . Notice by (3.5) that for every  $n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})$ ,

$$\mu_n^{i-1} = \mu_n^{j_0-1} - \tau_{x_n^{j_0}} \mu^{j_0} - \sum_{j_0 < j < i} \tau_{x_n^{j}} \mu^{j},$$

hence taking the translation  $\tau_{-x_n^i}$ ,

$$\tau_{-x_n^i} \mu_n^{i-1} = \tau_{x_n^{j_0} - x_n^i} (\tau_{-x_n^{j_0}} \mu_n^{j_0 - 1} - \mu^{j_0}) - \sum_{j_0 < j < i} \tau_{x_n^j - x_n^i} \mu^j + \sum_{j_0 < j < i} \tau_{-x_n^j} \mu_{-x_n^j} \mu_{-x_n^$$

and passing to the weak limit, knowing that  $x_n^{j_0} - x_n^i \to -x$  and  $\operatorname{dist}(x_n^j, x_n^i) \to +\infty$  for  $j_0 < j < i$ ,

$$\mu^{i} = \tau_{-x}(\mu^{j_{0}} - \mu^{j_{0}}) - \sum_{j_{0} < j < i} 0 = 0.$$

This contradicts the fact that  $(\tau_{-x_n^i} \mu_n^{i-1})_{n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_0} \mu^i \neq 0$  and proves (3.8). Step 3: weak convergence of bubbles. From (3.6) we get

$$\tau_{-x_n^i} \mu_n^{i-1} = \tau_{-x_n^i} \mu_n - \sum_{0 \le j < i} \tau_{-x_n^i + x_n^j} \mu^j, \tag{3.9}$$

and by (3.8), the sum converges weakly to 0, and so

$$(\tau_{-x_n^i} \mu_n)_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_{0_{\lambda}}} \mu^i \quad \text{for every } i \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } i < k.$$
(3.10)

Step 4: construction of the bubbles with mass conservation. We now construct the extraction  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  that we need by induction: we set  $\sigma(0) = 0$  and, assuming that  $\sigma(0) < \cdots < \sigma(\ell-1)$ , with  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , have been constructed, we set  $\sigma(\ell) \coloneqq n$  with  $n \in \sigma_{\ell \wedge k-1}(\mathbb{N})$  large enough so that  $n > \sigma(\ell-1)$  and for every  $i < \ell \wedge k$ ,

$$\mu_n(B_\ell(x_n^i)) \le \|\mu^i\| + 2^{-\ell}, \tag{3.11}$$

and

$$\min_{0 \le j < i} \operatorname{dist}(x_n^i, x_n^j) \ge 4\ell.$$
(3.12)

Such an *n* exists by (3.8) and (3.10), noticing that  $\mu_n(B_\ell(x_n^i)) = (\tau_{-x_n^i}\mu_n)(B_\ell)$ . Then for each  $n = \sigma(\ell), \ \ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , we set  $k_n = \ell \wedge k$ , and for each  $i \in \{0, \ldots, k_n - 1\}$ ,

$$B_n^i \coloneqq B_\ell(x_n^i)$$

Finally, for every  $n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})$ , we decompose  $\mu_n$  as expected:

$$\mu_n = \mu_n^b + \mu_n^v$$
, where  $\mu_n^b = \sum_{0 \le i < k_n} \mu_n \sqcup B_n^i$ .

Let us check the four first items (A)–(D). Notice that (C) is fulfilled because diam $(B^i_{\sigma(\ell)}) = \ell \to +\infty$  as  $\ell \to \infty$ , and (B) because of (3.12). Since for every i < k,  $\lim_{\sigma(\mathbb{N}) \ni n \to \infty} \operatorname{diam}(B^i_n) = +\infty$  and  $c_{B^i_n}\mu_n = (\tau_{-x^i_n}(\mu_n \sqcup B^i_n))$  for every  $n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})$ ,  $(c_{B^i_n}\mu_n)_{n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})}$  converges weakly to  $\mu^i$  by (3.10), and together with (3.11) it implies that

$$(c_{B_n^i}\mu_n)_{n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_{b_\lambda}} \mu^i,$$

i.e. (A) is satisfied. Moreover, by (3.11) again,

$$\limsup_{\ell \to \infty} \sum_{0 \le i < k_{\sigma(\ell)}} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)}(B^i_{\sigma(\ell)}) \le \sum_{0 \le i < k} \|\mu^i\| + \limsup_{\ell \to \infty} (\ell \land k) 2^{-\ell} = \sum_{0 \le i < k} \|\mu^i\|,$$

and since  $k_n \to k$ , by Fatou's lemma we have,

$$\sum_{0 \le i < k} \|\mu^i\| \le \liminf_{\ell \to \infty} \sum_{0 \le i < k_{\sigma(\ell)}} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)}(B^i_{\sigma(\ell)}),$$

which proves (D) because  $\sum_{0 \le i < k_{\sigma(\ell)}} \mu_{\sigma(\ell)}(B^i_{\sigma(\ell)}) = \|\mu^b_{\sigma(\ell)}\|.$ 

<u>Step 5:</u> vanishing of the remaining part, proof of (E). By Lemma 3.3, it suffices to prove that  $m((\mu_n^v)_{n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})})=0$ . We claim that:

$$m((\mu_n^v)_{n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})}) \le m((\mu_n^i)_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})}), \quad \text{for every } i \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } i < k,$$
(3.13)

which concludes since  $m((\mu_n^k)_{n \in \sigma_{k-1}(\mathbb{N})}) = 0$  if  $k < \infty$ , and  $m((\mu_n^i))_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})}) \to 0$  as  $i \to \infty$  if  $k = \infty$ . Indeed, if  $k = \infty$ , we have by (3.7) and (D),

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}m((\mu_n^i)_{n\in\sigma_i(\mathbb{N})})\leq \sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\|\mu^i\|=\lim_{\ell\to\infty}\|\mu_{\sigma(\ell)}^b\|\leq\liminf_{\ell\to\infty}\|\mu_{\sigma(\ell)}\|<\infty$$

Let us show (3.13). Let  $\bar{\sigma} \preceq \sigma$  and  $(x_n)_{n \in \bar{\sigma}(\mathbb{N})}$  be a sequence of points such that

$$(\tau_{-x_n}\mu_n^v)_{n\in\bar{\sigma}(\mathbb{N})} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_{0_\lambda}} \mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

We need to prove that  $\|\mu\| \leq m((\mu_n^i)_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})})$  for every i < k. Assume without loss of generality that  $\|\mu\| > 0$ . Then for every i < k,

$$(\operatorname{dist}(x_n, x_n^i))_{n \in \bar{\sigma}(\mathbb{N})} \to \infty.$$
(3.14)

Otherwise, up to subsequence,  $(\operatorname{dist}(x_n, x_n^i))_n$  would be bounded by some constant M, and for every r > 0,

$$(\tau_{-x_n}\mu_n^v)(B_r) \le \mu_n^v(B_{r+M}(x_n^i)) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0,$$

because  $\mu_n^v$  is supported on  $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \bigcup_{0 \leq i < k_n} B_n^i$  and  $B_{r+M}(x_n^i) \subseteq B_n^i$  for n large enough by (E). Hence  $\mu$  would be 0, a contradiction. Up to further extraction, one can assume that  $(\tau_{-x_n}\mu_n)_{n\in\bar{\sigma}(\mathbb{N})}$  converges weakly to a measure  $\bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Since  $\mu_n^v \leq \mu_n$ , we have  $\mu \leq \bar{\mu}$ . Moreover by (3.5), for every i < k and  $n \in \bar{\sigma}(\mathbb{N})$  large enough,

$$\tau_{-x_n}\mu_n^i = \tau_{-x_n}\mu_n - \sum_{0 \le j \le i} \tau_{x_n^j - x_n}\mu^j,$$

and because of (3.14) the sum converges weakly to 0, so that  $\tau_{-x_n} \mu_n^i \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_0} \bar{\mu}$ , and consequently,

$$\|\mu\| \le \|\bar{\mu}\| \le m((\mu_n^i)_{n \in \sigma_i(\mathbb{N})}),$$

which is what had to be proved.

Step 6: re-centering of the bubbles at points of supp  $\mu_n$ . By (3.10),  $(\tau_{-x_n^i}\mu_n)_{n\in\sigma(\mathbb{N})}$  converges weakly to the non-trivial measure  $\mu_i$  for every i < k, thus

$$R_i/2 \coloneqq \limsup_{\sigma(\mathbb{N}) \ni n \to +\infty} \operatorname{dist}(\operatorname{supp} \mu_n, x_n^i) < +\infty.$$
(3.15)

Therefore, for every *n* large enough, there is a point  $\tilde{x}_n^i$  such that  $|x_n^i - \tilde{x}_n^i| < R_i$  and  $\tilde{x}_n^i \in \sup \mu_n$ . After a further extraction, one may assume that for every i,  $|x_n^i - \tilde{x}_n^i| < R_i < r_i^n$  with diam  $B_n^i = 2r_n^i$  for every n, and  $(x_n^i - \tilde{x}_n^i)_{n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})}$  converges to some  $p_i \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Finally, we set  $\tilde{r}_i^n \coloneqq r_i^n - R_i$  and  $\tilde{B}_n^i \coloneqq B(\tilde{x}_n^i, \tilde{r}_i^n) \subseteq B_n^i$ . After replacing the balls  $B_n^i$  by  $\tilde{B}_n^i$ , (B) and (C) are satisfied by definition. Notice that  $(\tau_{-\tilde{x}_n^i}\mu_n)_{n \in \sigma(\mathbb{N})}$  converges weakly to  $\tilde{\mu}^i \coloneqq \tau_{p_i}\mu^i$ 

with  $\|\tilde{\mu}^i\| = \|\mu^i\|$ , and  $\limsup_n \|c_{B_n^i}\mu_n\| = \limsup_n \mu_n(\tilde{B}_n^i) \le \limsup_n \mu_n(B_n^i) = \|\mu^i\|$  hence (A) holds. Besides, using Fatou's lemma,

$$\limsup_{n} \sum_{i < k_n} \mu_n(\tilde{B}_n^i) \le \limsup_{n} \sum_{i < k_n} \mu_n(B_n^i) = \sum_{i < k} \|\mu^i\|$$
$$\le \sum_{i < k} \liminf_{n} \mu_n(\tilde{B}_n^i) \le \liminf_{n} \sum_{i < k_n} \mu_n(\tilde{B}_n^i)$$

so that  $\lim_{n} \sum_{i < k_n} \mu_n(\tilde{B}_n^i) = \sum_i ||\mu_i||$  and (D) is satisfied. In particular,  $\lim_{n} \sum_{i < k_n} \mu_n(B_n^i \setminus \tilde{B}_n^i) = \lim_{n} \sum_{i < k_n} \mu_n(B_n^i) - \lim_{n} \sum_{i < k_n} \mu_n(\tilde{B}_n^i) = 0$  and (E) holds as well.

Remark 3.4. If the sequence of families of balls  $(B_n^i)_{0 \le i < k_n}$  satisfies the conclusion of the theorem, i.e. (A)–(E), then it is also the case for any family of balls  $(\tilde{B}_n^i)_{0 \le i < k_n}$  with the same centers as those of  $B_n^i$  and with smaller but still divergent radii (i.e. satisfying (C)). It can be easily seen following the arguments at Step 6 of the proof.

#### 3.2 Lower bound by concentration compactness

We will first establish a lower bound for the minimal energy along vanishing sequences defined on varying subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . We say that a sequence of Borel functions  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ , each defined on some open set  $\Omega_n \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ , is vanishing if the sequence of measures  $(|u_n|\mathcal{L}^N \sqcup \Omega_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is vanishing in the sense of Definition 3.1, namely if  $||u_n||_{L^1_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega_n)} \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ , where  $L^1_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega)$  is the set of uniformly locally integrable functions on the open set  $\Omega$ , i.e. Borel functions u on  $\Omega$  such that

$$\|u\|_{L^{1}_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega)} \coloneqq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\Omega \cap (x+[0,1)^{N})} |u| < +\infty.$$
(3.16)

It will be convenient to first extend our Sobolev functions to a neighbourhood  $\Omega_{\delta}$  of  $\Omega$  where for every  $\delta > 0$  and every set  $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ , we have set

$$X_{\delta} \coloneqq \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^N : \operatorname{dist}(x, X) < \delta \}.$$

We will need to consider sufficiently regular domains for which we have an extension operator  $W^{1,p} \cap L^1_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega) \to W^{1,p} \cap L^1_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega_{\delta})$ . We will only apply it to domains with smooth boundary, in which case we can use a reflexion technique. Since we want quantitative estimates, we will use the notion of <u>reach</u> of a set  $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$  (see [Fed59]). We say that X has positive reach if there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that every  $x \in X_{\delta}$  has a unique nearest point  $\pi(x)$  on X. The greatest  $\delta$  for which this holds is denoted by  $\operatorname{reach}(X)$  and the map  $x \in X_{\operatorname{reach}(X)} \mapsto \pi(x) \in X$  is called the nearest point retraction.

Example 3.5. Assume that  $\Omega$  is a perforated domain  $B^0 \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^k B^i$  where the  $B^i$  are disjoint closed balls included in some open ball  $B^0$  (possibly  $B^0 = \mathbb{R}^N$ ). Then,

$$\operatorname{reach}(\partial\Omega) = \inf\{\operatorname{radius}(B^i) : i = 0, \dots, k\} \cup \{\operatorname{dist}(\partial B^i, \partial B^j) : i \neq j\}.$$

By [Fed59, Theorem 4.8], we have

i) if  $x, y \in X_{\delta}$  with  $0 < \delta < \delta_0 \coloneqq \operatorname{reach}(X)$ , then  $|\pi(x) - \pi(y)| \le \frac{\delta_0}{\delta_0 - \delta} |x - y|$ ,

ii) if  $x \in X$  and  $D_x$  is the intersection of  $X_{\operatorname{reach}(X)}$  with the straight line crossing  $\partial \Omega$  orthogonally at x, then  $\pi(y) = x$  for every  $y \in D_x$ .

**Lemma 3.6** (Extension). Let  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$  be an open set such that its boundary  $\partial\Omega$  is  $\mathcal{C}^1$ with positive reach. Then, for every  $\delta \in (0, \operatorname{reach}(\partial\Omega))$ , every  $p \in [1, +\infty)$  and every  $u \in L^1 \cap W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ , there exists  $\bar{u} \in L^1 \cap W^{1,p}(\Omega_{\delta})$  such that  $\bar{u} = u$  a.e. on  $\Omega$ , and

 $\|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega_{\delta})} \leq A \|u\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}, \quad \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega_{\delta})} \leq A \|u\|_{L^{1}_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega)}, \quad \|\nabla\bar{u}\|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{\delta})} \leq A \|\nabla u\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)},$ 

with a constant  $A < +\infty$  depending only on  $N, \delta$  and reach $(\partial \Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\sigma : (\partial \Omega)_{\delta} \to (\partial \Omega)_{\delta}$  be the reflexion through  $\partial \Omega$ , defined by  $\sigma(x) = 2\pi(x) - x$ . By the properties i) and ii) of the nearest point retraction, we have that  $\sigma = \sigma^{-1}$  (simply because  $\pi(\sigma(x)) = \pi(x)$ ) and  $\sigma$  is *L*-Lipschitz with a constant  $L < +\infty$  depending on  $\delta$  and reach $(\partial \Omega)$  only.

We define  $\bar{u}$  by  $\bar{u} = u$  on  $\Omega$  and  $\bar{u} = u \circ \sigma$  on  $\Omega_{\delta} \setminus \Omega^{5}$ . This map is well defined since  $\sigma(\Omega_{\delta} \setminus \Omega) \subseteq \Omega$ . Indeed, if we had  $x, \sigma(x) \in \Omega_{\delta} \setminus \Omega$ , then the line segment  $[x, \sigma(x)]$  would meet  $\partial\Omega$  orthogonally at its center  $\pi(x)$ , and would remain out of  $\Omega$  elsewhere, because otherwise there would exist a point y belonging either to  $\partial\Omega \cap (x, \pi(x))$  or  $\partial\Omega \cap (\pi(x), \sigma(x))$  thus contradicting the definition of  $\pi(x)$ . Such a situation is not possible for a  $\mathcal{C}^{1}$  boundary.

Moreover, by the change of variable formula and the chain rule,  $\bar{u}$  satisfies the desired estimates since  $\sigma$  is bi-Lipschitz with its Lipschitz constants controlled in terms of  $\delta$  and reach $(\partial \Omega)$ .

We will need a localized version of the Gagliardo–Nirenberg–Sobolev inequality in a particular case:

**Lemma 3.7.** Let  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$  be an open set such that  $\partial\Omega$  is  $\mathcal{C}^1$  with positive reach, let  $p \in [1, +\infty)$ , let  $r \geq p(1 + \frac{1}{N})$ , and assume that  $r \leq \frac{pN}{N-p}$  when p < N. Then for every  $u \in L^1 \cap W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ ,

$$\|u\|_{L^{r}(\Omega)} \leq C(\|\nabla u\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} + \|u\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)})^{\alpha} \|u\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}^{1-\alpha},$$

where  $\alpha \in (0,1]$  is the unique parameter such that  $\frac{1}{r} = \alpha(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{N}) + (1-\alpha)$ , and the constant  $C < +\infty$  depends on N, r, p and reach $(\partial \Omega)$ .

Proof of Lemma 3.7. We let  $u \in L^1 \cap W^{1,p}(\Omega)$  and we extend u to  $\bar{u} \in L^1 \cap W^{1,p}(\Omega_{\delta})$  as in Lemma 3.6, with  $\delta := \operatorname{reach}(\Omega)/2$ . By the Gagliardo–Nirenberg–Sobolev inequality (see [Nir59]) on the hypercube  $Q_{\delta} = [-\frac{\delta}{\sqrt{N}}, \frac{\delta}{\sqrt{N}})^N$ , we have

$$\|\bar{u}\|_{L^{r}(Q_{\delta})} \leq C \|\nabla \bar{u}\|_{L^{p}(Q_{\delta})}^{\alpha} \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}(Q_{\delta})}^{1-\alpha} + C \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}(Q_{\delta})}^{1-\alpha}$$

We then cover  $\Omega$  with the hypercubes  $Q_{\delta}(c) = c + Q_{\delta} \subseteq \Omega_{\delta}$  centered at points c on the grid  $\mathcal{C} := \Omega \cap \delta \mathbb{Z}^N$ . Since  $\alpha \geq \frac{N}{N+1}$ , we can check that

$$r\alpha = \frac{r-1}{1 + \frac{1}{N} - \frac{1}{p}} \ge p.$$
(3.17)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that  $\bar{u}$  is not defined on  $\partial\Omega$ , but this set is negligible.

By superadditivity of  $s \mapsto s^{\frac{r\alpha}{p}}$  and of  $s \mapsto s^{r\alpha}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|u\|_{L^{r}(\Omega)}^{r} &\leq \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{r}(Q_{\delta}(c))}^{r} \\ &\leq C' \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \|\nabla \bar{u}\|_{L^{p}(Q_{\delta}(c))}^{p\frac{r\alpha}{p}} \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}(Q_{\delta}(c))}^{r(1-\alpha)} + C' \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}(Q_{\delta}(c))}^{r} \\ &\leq C'' \|\nabla \bar{u}\|_{L^{p}(\Omega_{\delta})}^{r\alpha} \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathrm{uloc}}(\Omega_{\delta})}^{r(1-\alpha)} + C' \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega_{\delta})}^{r\alpha} \|\bar{u}\|_{L^{1}_{\mathrm{uloc}}(\Omega_{\delta})}^{r(1-\alpha)} \\ &\leq C''' (\|\nabla u\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} + \|u\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)})^{r\alpha} \|u\|_{L^{1}_{\mathrm{uloc}}(\Omega)}^{r(1-\alpha)}. \end{split}$$

**Proposition 3.8.** Assume that  $f : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  satisfies  $(H_1)$  and  $(H_5)$  for some  $p \in (1, +\infty)$ . Consider a vanishing sequence  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in  $W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega_n, \mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ , where the  $\Omega_n \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$  are open sets with  $\mathcal{C}^1$  boundary and such that  $\inf_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{reach}(\partial \Omega_n) > 0$ , and a sequence  $(\Phi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of Borel maps  $\Phi_n : \Omega_n \to \mathbb{R}^N$  such that  $\sup_{y \in \Omega_n} |\Phi_n(y) - x_0| \to 0$  as  $n \to +\infty$  for some  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . If  $\theta_n \coloneqq \int_{\Omega_n} u_n > 0$  for every n and  $(\theta_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is bounded, then:

$$\liminf_{n \to +\infty} \frac{1}{\theta_n} \int_{\Omega_n} f(\Phi_n(y), u_n(y), \nabla u_n(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \ge f'_-(x_0, 0^\pm, 0),$$

where  $f'_{-}(x_0, 0^{\pm}, 0)$  was defined in (1.4).

Proof of Proposition 3.8. Suppose for example that  $u_n \ge 0$  a.e. for every n. Without loss of generality, we may assume after extracting a subsequence that:

$$K \coloneqq \sup_{n} \frac{1}{\theta_n} \int_{\Omega_n} f(\Phi_n(y), u_n(y), \nabla u_n(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y + \theta_n < +\infty.$$
(3.18)

We consider the sequence of measures  $(\nu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\in\mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N\times\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^N)$  defined by

$$\nu_n \coloneqq \frac{1}{\theta_n} (\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n)_{\sharp} (u_n \mathcal{L}^N \sqcup \Omega_n), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We are going to show in several steps that  $\nu_n \frac{C'_b}{\delta} \delta_{(x_0,0,0)}$  and deduce the result. It suffices to show that the three projections  $\nu_n^i \coloneqq (\pi^i)_{\sharp} \nu_n$ ,  $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$  converge narrowly to  $\delta_{x_0}, \delta_0$ and  $\delta_0$  respectively. Indeed, this would imply that  $(\nu_n)$  converges narrowly to a measure concentrated on  $(x_0, 0, 0)$ , hence to  $\delta_{(x_0,0,0)}$  since the  $\nu_n$  are probability measures. First of all, since  $(\nu_n)$  has bounded mass and  $(\theta_n)$  is bounded, we may take a subsequence (not relabeled) such that  $\nu_n \xrightarrow{C'_0} \nu$  and  $\theta_n \to \theta$  as  $n \to \infty$  for some  $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $\theta \ge 0$ .

 $\underbrace{\text{Step 1: } \nu_n^1 \stackrel{\mathcal{C}'_b}{\longrightarrow} \delta_{x_0}}{\Phi_n(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ for every } n} \text{ This is a direct consequence of the fact that } \nu_n^1 \text{ is concentrated on } \Phi_n(\mathbb{R}^N), x_0) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$ 

<u>Step 2:</u>  $\nu_n^2 \xrightarrow{C'_b} \delta_0$ . By (3.18) and our assumption (H<sub>5</sub>), there is a constant  $K_1 > 0$  with

$$\int_{\Omega_n} |\nabla u_n|^p \le K_1 \int_{\Omega_n} u_n, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.19)

We deduce from Markov's inequality, and Lemma 3.7 applied with  $r = p(1 + \frac{1}{N})$ , corresponding to  $\alpha = \frac{N}{N+1}$ , that

$$\begin{split} \nu_n^2([\eta, +\infty)) &= \frac{1}{\theta_n} \int_{\{u_n \ge \eta\}} u_n = \frac{1}{\theta_n} \int_{\{u_n \ge \eta\}} u_n^{1-r} u_n^r \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\theta_n \eta^{r-1}} \int_{\Omega_n} u_n^r \\ &\leq \frac{C}{\theta_n \eta^{r-1}} (\|\nabla u_n\|_{L^p(\Omega_n)} + \|u_n\|_{L^1(\Omega_n)})^{r\alpha} \|u_n\|_{L^1_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega_n)}^{r(1-\alpha)} \\ &\leq \frac{C'}{\eta^{r-1}} (1+\theta_n^{p-1}) \|u_n\|_{L^1_{\text{uloc}}(\Omega_n)}^{r(1-\alpha)}, \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality, we have used the identity  $\alpha r = p$  and (3.19).

Since  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is vanishing and  $(\theta_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is bounded, the last term in the previous inequality goes to zero as  $n \to \infty$  and it follows that  $\nu_n^2 \xrightarrow{C'_b} \delta_0$ .

<u>Step 3:</u>  $\nu_n^3 \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_b} \delta_0$ . Fix M > 0 and  $\eta > 0$ . One has by (3.19),

$$\begin{split} \nu_n^3([M,+\infty)) &= \frac{1}{\theta_n} \int_{\{|\nabla u_n| \ge M\}} u_n \le \frac{1}{\theta_n} \int_{\{u_n < \eta\} \cap \{|\nabla u_n| \ge M\}} u_n + \frac{1}{\theta_n} \int_{\{u_n > \eta\}} u_n \\ &\le \frac{\eta}{\theta_n} \mathcal{L}^N(\{|\nabla u_n| \ge M\}) + \nu_n^2([\eta,+\infty)) \\ &\le \frac{\eta}{\theta_n} \frac{1}{M^p} \int_{\Omega_n} |\nabla u_n|^p + \nu_n^2([\eta,+\infty)) \\ &\le \frac{\eta K_1}{M^p} + \nu_n^2([\eta,+\infty)). \end{split}$$

By the previous step, we know that  $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \nu_n^2([\eta,+\infty)) = 0$ , hence taking the superior limit as  $n \to +\infty$  then  $\eta \to 0$  we get  $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \nu_n^3([M,+\infty)) = 0$ . Since this is true for every M > 0 we obtain  $\nu_n^3 \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_b} \delta_0$ .

Step 4: conclusion. By the previous steps, we deduce that  $\nu_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_b} \delta_{(x_0,0,0)}$  as  $n \to +\infty$ . We define  $g: \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  as the lower semicontinuous envelope of  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+^* \times \mathbb{R}^N \ni (x, u, \xi) \mapsto \frac{1}{u} f(x, u, \xi)$ . By (H<sub>1</sub>), we have  $g(x, u, \xi) = \frac{1}{u} f(x, u, \xi)$  if u > 0, and by (1.4), we have  $g(x, 0, 0) = f'_-(x, 0^+, 0)$  for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Hence, by lower semicontinuty of g and weak convergence of  $(\nu_n)$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega_n} f(\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n) &\geq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\{u_n > 0\}} \frac{f(\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n)}{u_n} u_n \\ &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N} g(x, u, \xi) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_n(x, u, \xi) \\ &\geq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(x, u, \xi) \, \mathrm{d}\delta_{(x_0, 0, 0)} = f'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0), \end{split}$$

which ends the proof of the lemma.

As a corollary, we may now relate the slope at 0 of  $H_f$  to that of f.

**Corollary 3.9.** Assume that  $f : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  satisfies  $(H_1)$ ,  $(H_5)$  for some  $p \in (1, +\infty)$  and  $(H_6)$ . Fix  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . If either  $N \ge 2$  or  $(N = 1 \text{ and } H_f(x, \cdot) \not\equiv +\infty \text{ on } \mathbb{R}^*_{\pm})$ , then  $H'_f(x, 0^{\pm}) = f'_-(x, 0^{\pm}, 0)$ .

*Proof.* The inequality  $H'_f(x, 0^{\pm}) \leq f'_-(x, 0^{\pm}, 0)$  is a consequence of (H<sub>6</sub>), Proposition 2.6 and Proposition 2.7, and the converse inequality  $H'_f(x, 0^{\pm}) \geq f'_-(x, 0^{\pm}, 0)$  comes from Proposition 3.8.

We now establish our main energy lower bound along sequences with bounded mass (not necessarily vanishing):

**Proposition 3.10.** Assume that  $(f_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  is a family of functions  $f_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$ satisfying  $(H_1)$ ,  $(H_2)$ ,  $(H_5)$  and  $(H_8)$  for some limit f. Let  $(\varepsilon_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of positive numbers going to zero,  $(R_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  and  $(r_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be two sequences in  $(0, +\infty]$  such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} r_n = \lim_{n\to\infty} R_n - r_n = +\infty$ ,  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of functions  $u_n \in$  $W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(B_{R_n}, \mathbb{R}_{\pm})$  with finite limit mass  $m \coloneqq \lim_{n\to\infty} \int_{B_{r_n}} u_n$ , and  $(\Phi_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of Borel maps  $\Phi_n : B_{R_n} \to \mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$\sup_{y \in B_{R_n}} |\Phi_n(y) - x_0| \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0 \quad for \ some \ x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(3.20)

Then there exists a family  $(u^i)_{0 \le i < k}$  of functions in  $W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_{\pm})$  with  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{+\infty\}$ , such that  $m_i \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^i \in \mathbb{R}^*_{\pm}$  for every i, and

$$m = m_v + \sum_{0 \le i < k} m_i \quad \text{with } m_v \ge 0, \tag{3.21}$$

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_{R_n}} f_{\varepsilon_n}(\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n) \ge m_v f'_-(x_0, 0^{\pm}, 0) + \sum_{0 \le i < k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(x_0, u^i, \nabla u^i).$$
(3.22)

Proof. Suppose for example that  $u_n \geq 0$  a.e. for every n. We first assume, up to subsequence, that the left hand side of (3.22) is a limit. We apply the profile decomposition Theorem 3.2 to the sequence of positive measures  $\mu_n = u_n \mathcal{L}_{|B_{r_n}}^N$  where, without loss of generality, we assume the extraction  $\sigma$  to be the identity for convenience, and we use the same notation as in Theorem 3.2. In particular, for each bubble  $B_n^i = B_{r_n^i}(x_n^i)$ , with  $0 \leq i < k_n$ , we have  $x_n^i \in \text{supp } \mu_n \subseteq B_{r_n}$ . By assumption, we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} (R_n - r_n) = +\infty$ ; hence, up to reducing the radii of the balls  $B_n^i$  if necessary, in such a way that their radii still diverge (see Remark 3.4), we can assume that

$$B_n^i \subseteq B_{R_n-1}, \quad 0 \le i < k_n. \tag{3.23}$$

For each  $0 \leq i < k_n$ , we let  $u_n^i \coloneqq u_n(\cdot + x_n^i)$ . Assuming without loss of generality that the left hand side of (3.22) is finite, we get that the sequence  $(u_n^i)_n$  is bounded in  $W_{\text{loc}}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ by (H<sub>5</sub>). Hence, after a further extraction if needed, we get that  $(u_n^i)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \rightharpoonup u^i$  weakly in  $W_{\text{loc}}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for some limit  $u^i$ , for every  $0 \leq i < k = \lim k_n$ . Setting  $m_i = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^i$  for every i, by (D) in Theorem 3.2, we have

$$m_v \coloneqq m - \sum_{0 \le i < k} m_i = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_{r_n} \setminus \bigcup_{0 \le i < k_n} B_n^i} u_n.$$

Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$ . We decompose the energy as

$$\int_{B_{R_n}} f_{\varepsilon}(\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n) = \int_{B_{R_n} \setminus \bigcup_{0 \le i < k_n} B_n^i} f_{\varepsilon}(\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n) + \sum_{0 \le i < k_n} \int_{B_{r_n^i}} f_{\varepsilon}(\Phi_n(\cdot + x_n^i), u_n^i, \nabla u_n^i). \quad (3.24)$$

Note that the domains  $\Omega_n := B_{R_n} \setminus \bigcup_{0 \le i < k} B_n^i$  satisfy  $\inf_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{reach}(\partial \Omega_n) > 0$  as noticed in Example 3.5, thanks to (3.23) and (B), (C) in Theorem 3.2. Hence, applying Proposition 3.8 to the Lagrangian  $f_{\varepsilon}$ , we obtain

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_{R_n} \setminus \bigcup_{0 \le i < k_n} B_n^i} f_{\varepsilon}(\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n) \ge m_v(f_{\varepsilon})'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0).$$
(3.25)

Moreover, by lower semicontinuity of integral functionals (see [But89, Theorem 4.1.1]), in view of (3.20), we have for each i with  $0 \le i < k$ ,

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_{r_n^i}} f_{\varepsilon}(\Phi_n(\cdot + x_n^i), u_n^i, \nabla u_n^i) \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f_{\varepsilon}(x_0, u^i, \nabla u^i).$$
(3.26)

Finally, by (3.24), (3.25), (3.26),  $(H_8)$  and by monotone convergence, we deduce that

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_{R_n}} f_{\varepsilon_n}(\Phi_n, u_n, \nabla u_n) \ge \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left( m_v(f_\varepsilon)'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0) + \sum_{0 \le i < k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f_\varepsilon(x_0, u^i, \nabla u^i) \right) \\
= m_v f'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0) + \sum_{0 \le i < k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(x_0, u^i, \nabla u^i). \quad \Box$$

#### 3.3 Existence of optimal profiles

For the existence of an optimal profile in (1.2), we need a criterion that rules out splitting and vanishing of minimizing sequences:

**Lemma 3.11.** Let  $H : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  be a concave function. Then H is subadditive, and if for some  $0 < \theta < m$  one has  $H(m) = H(m - \theta) + H(\theta)$ , then H is linear on (0, m).

*Proof.* By concavity,  $t \mapsto \frac{H(t)}{t}$  is non-increasing. Hence,

$$H(m) = \theta \frac{H(m)}{m} + (m-\theta) \frac{H(m)}{m} \le \theta \frac{H(\theta)}{\theta} + (m-\theta) \frac{H(m-\theta)}{m-\theta}$$

But, by assumption, the last inequality is an equality which means that  $\frac{H(m)}{m} = \frac{H(\theta)}{\theta} = \frac{H(m-\theta)}{m-\theta}$ . In particular, the monotone function  $t \mapsto \frac{H(t)}{t}$  must be constant on  $[\theta, m]$ , i.e. H must be linear on  $[\theta, m]$ . By concavity this is only possible if H is linear on [0, m].

We can now state and prove our existence result:

**Proposition 3.12.** Assume that  $f : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$  satisfies  $(H_1)$ ,  $(H_2)$ ,  $(H_5)$  and  $(H_6)$ . Let  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $m \in \mathbb{R}_+$  (resp.  $m \in \mathbb{R}_-$ ). If  $H_f(x_0, \cdot)$  is not linear on [0, m] (resp. [m, 0]), then (1.2) admits a solution  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , i.e.  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(x_0, u, \nabla u) = H_f(x_0, m)$ , such that  $u \ge 0$  (resp.  $u \le 0$ ) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

*Proof.* We consider the case  $m \ge 0$ , the case m < 0 can then be deduced by considering  $\tilde{f}(x, u, \xi) = f(x, -u, \xi)$ . By Remark 2.2, the admissible class in (1.2) can be reduced to non negative functions. In particular, if m = 0, then u = 0 is the only solution. If m > 0, we apply Proposition 3.10 in the following situation:  $f_{\varepsilon} \equiv f$ ,  $R_n \equiv +\infty$ ,  $\Phi_n \equiv x_0$ ,  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is a minimizing sequence for the minimization problem in (1.2), and  $(r_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is a sequence of positive radii going to  $+\infty$  such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \int_{B_{r_n}} u_n = m$ . We obtain

$$H_f(x_0, m) \ge m_v f'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0) + \sum_{0 \le i < k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(x_0, u^i, \nabla u^i),$$

with  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{+\infty\}$ ,  $u^i \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+)$  and  $m = \sum_{0 \leq i < k} m_i + m_v$ , where  $m_i \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^i$ . By Proposition 2.6 and Proposition 2.7, in view of our assumption (H<sub>6</sub>), we have  $f'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0) \geq H'_f(x_0, 0)$ . Moreover, by Theorem 2.1, we have  $m_v H'_f(x_0, 0) \geq H_f(x_0, m_v)$ . Hence, by definition of  $H_f$ ,

$$H_f(x_0, m) \ge H_f(x_0, m_v) + \sum_{0 \le i < k} H_f(x_0, m_i).$$

Since the concave function  $H_f(x_0, \cdot)$  is not linear on [0, m], by Lemma 3.11, we have either k = 1 and  $m_v = 0$ , and we are done, or k = 0 and  $m = m_v$ . But in the latter case, we would have  $H_f(x_0, m) = mH'_f(x_0, 0)$  which implies that the monotone function  $t \mapsto \frac{H_f(x_0,t)}{t}$  is constant on [0,m], i.e. that  $H_f(x_0, \cdot)$  is linear on [0,m]. This contradicts our assumption.

## **4** $\Gamma$ -convergence of the rescaled energies towards the *H*-mass

We establish lower and upper bounds for the  $\Gamma$  – lim inf and  $\Gamma$  – lim sup respectively, from which we deduce the proof of our main  $\Gamma$ -convergence result. The upper bound on the  $\Gamma$  – lim sup holds under more general assumptions and will be needed in Section 5.5.

#### 4.1 Lower bound for the $\Gamma - \liminf$

Given a Borel function  $f : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$ , we define for every  $(x, m) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$H_f^-(x,m) \coloneqq H_f(x,m) \land (f'_-(x,0^{\pm},0)|m|), \quad \text{if } \pm m \ge 0,$$
(4.1)

recalling that  $H_f$  is defined in (1.2) and  $f'_{-}(x, 0^{\pm}, 0)$  in (1.4), with the usual convention  $(\pm \infty) \times 0 = 0$ . Notice that under (H<sub>6</sub>), in view of Proposition 2.6 and Proposition 2.7 we have  $H_f^{-}(x,m) = H_f(x,m)$ .

**Proposition 4.1.** Assume that  $(f_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  is a family of functions  $f_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, +\infty]$ satisfying  $(H_1)$ ,  $(H_2)$ ,  $(H_5)$  and  $(H_8)$  where  $f = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} f_{\varepsilon}$ . Let  $(\varepsilon_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of positive numbers going to zero,  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in  $W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , and let

$$e_n(x) \coloneqq f_{\varepsilon_n}(x, \varepsilon_n^N u_n(x), \varepsilon_n^{N+1} \nabla u_n(x)) \varepsilon_n^{-N}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
  
be the energy density of  $u_n$ . If  $u_n \mathcal{L}^N \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_0} u \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $e_n \mathcal{L}^N \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_0} e \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then

$$e \ge H_f^-(u). \tag{4.2}$$

In particular,  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_0) - \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} \geq \mathbf{M}^{H_f^-}$ .

Proof of Proposition 4.1. Set  $H \coloneqq H_f^-$ . Let us assume first that  $u_n \ge 0$  a.e. for every n. To obtain (4.2), it is enough to prove that for every  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

$$e(\{x_0\}) \ge H(x_0, u(\{x_0\})). \tag{4.3}$$

and that if  $x_0 \in \operatorname{supp} u$  is not an atom of u, then

$$\limsup_{R \to 0^+} \frac{e(B_R(x_0))}{u(B_R(x_0))} \ge H'(x_0, 0^+), \tag{4.4}$$

Indeed (4.3) implies that  $e \ge (H(u))^a$  (the atomic part of the measure H(u)) while (4.4) implies that  $e \ge H'(\cdot, 0^+)u^d = (H(u))^d$ , by Radon-Nikodỳm theorem (see [AFP00, Theorem 2.22]); these two relations yield  $e \ge (H(u))^a + (H(u))^d = H(u)$  as required.

We fix  $x_0 \in \operatorname{supp} u$  and proceed in several steps.

<u>Step 1: blow-up near  $x_0$ .</u> We first take two sequences of positive radii  $(R_\ell)_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \to 0$  and  $(r_\ell)_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}$  such that for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}, r_\ell \in (0, R_\ell)$ ,

$$e(\partial B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0)) = u(\partial B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0)) = 0, \qquad (4.5)$$

and

$$\lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{e(B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0))}{u(B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0))} = \limsup_{R \to 0^+} \frac{e(B_R(x_0))}{u(B_R(x_0))}.$$
(4.6)

This last property is obtained by taking first a sequence  $(\rho_{\ell})_{\ell}$  such that

$$\limsup_{R \to 0^+} \frac{e(B_R(x_0))}{u(B_R(x_0))} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{e(B_{\rho_\ell}(x_0))}{u(B_{\rho_\ell}(x_0))},$$

then using monotone convergence the measures to get first  $r_{\ell}$  then  $R_{\ell}$  such that  $0 < r_{\ell} < R_{\ell} < \rho_{\ell}, u(B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0)) \ge (1 - 2^{-\ell})u(B_{\rho_{\ell}}(x_0))$  and  $e(B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0)) \ge (1 - 2^{-\ell})e(B_{\rho_{\ell}}(x_0))$ .

By weak convergence and (4.5), according to [AFP00, Proposition 1.62 b)], we have for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} e_n(B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0)) = e(B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0)) \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0)} u_n = u(B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0)).$$

Hence, there exists an extraction  $(n_\ell)_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}} \in \Sigma$  such that

$$\lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{r_{\ell}}{\varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}} = +\infty \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{R_{\ell} - r_{\ell}}{\varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}} = +\infty, \tag{4.7}$$

satisfying the following conditions:

$$u(\{x_0\}) = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int_{B_{r_\ell}(x_0)} u_{n_\ell}, \quad e(\{x_0\}) = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} e_{n_\ell}(B_{R_\ell}(x_0)), \tag{4.8}$$

and

$$\limsup_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{e(B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0))}{u(B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0))} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{e_{n_{\ell}}(B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0))}{\int_{B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0)} u_{n_{\ell}}}.$$
(4.9)

We may rewrite the mass and energy in terms of the re-scaled map  $v_{\ell}$  defined by

$$v_{\ell}(y) \coloneqq \varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}^{N} u_{n_{\ell}}(x_0 + \varepsilon_{n_{\ell}} y), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ell \in \mathbb{N}$$

$$(4.10)$$

as follows:

$$\int_{B_{r_{\ell}}(x_0)} u_{n_{\ell}} = \int_{B_{\varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}^{-1} r_{\ell}}} v_{\ell}, \qquad (4.11)$$

and

$$e_{n_{\ell}}(B_{R_{\ell}}(x_0)) = \int_{B_{\varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}^{-1}R_{\ell}}} f_{\varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}}(x_0 + \varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}y, v_{\ell}(y), \nabla v_{\ell}(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y.$$
(4.12)

Step 2: proof of (4.3). By Proposition 3.10, we have

$$e(\{x_0\}) = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} e_{n_\ell}(B_{R_\ell}(x_0)) \ge m_v f'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0) + \sum_{0 \le i < k} H_f(x_0, m_i).$$
(4.13)

Here  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{+\infty\}$  and  $m = m_v + \sum_{0 \le i < k} m_i$ , with  $m_i > 0, m_v \ge 0$  and

$$m = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \int_{B_{\varepsilon_{n_{\ell}}^{-1} r_{\ell}}} v_{\ell} = u(\{x_0\}).$$

Since the function  $H = H_f^-$ , defined in (4.1), is the infimum of two functions which are concave in the mass m, it is itself concave in m hence subadditive. From (4.13) we thus arrive at

$$e(\{x_0\}) \ge H(x_0, m_v) + \sum_{0 \le i < k} H(x_0, m_i) \ge H\left(x_0, m_v + \sum_{0 \le i < k} m_i\right) = H(x_0, u(\{x_0\})).$$

Step 3: proof of (4.4). Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  and assume that  $m = u(\{x_0\}) = 0$ . In that case, we apply Proposition 3.8 to the sequence of functions  $(v_\ell)_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}$  defined on the sets  $\Omega_\ell = B_{\varepsilon_{n_\ell}^{-1} r_\ell}$  and the function  $f_{\varepsilon}$  to get, thanks to (H<sub>8</sub>):

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{R \to 0^+} \frac{e(B_R(x_0))}{u(B_R(x_0))} &= \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{e_{n_\ell}(B_{R_\ell}(x_0))}{\int_{B_{r_\ell}(x_0)} u_{n_\ell}} \\ &\geq \liminf_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{1}{\int_{B_{\varepsilon_{n_\ell}^{-1}r_\ell}} v_\ell} \int_{B_{\varepsilon_{n_\ell}^{-1}r_\ell}} f_{\varepsilon}(x_0 + \varepsilon_{n_\ell} y, v_\ell(y), \nabla v_\ell(y)) \\ &\geq (f_{\varepsilon})'_{-}(x_0, 0^+, 0). \end{split}$$

Taking the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ , we deduce by (H<sub>8</sub>) and (4.1):

$$\limsup_{R \to 0^+} \frac{e(B_R(x_0))}{u(B_R(x_0))} \ge f'_-(x_0, 0^+, 0) \ge H'(x_0, 0^+).$$
(4.14)

In view of the discussion at the beginning of the proof, we have now proved (4.2).

Step 4: proof of (4.2) for signed  $(u_n)_n$ . Notice that the preceding reasoning for non negative  $u_n$  applies also to the case of non-positive  $u_n$ . Let us handle the case where the  $(u_n)$ 's may change sign. We simply apply the above cases to the positive and negative parts  $((u_n)_{\pm})_n$  which converge weakly (up to subsequence) to some measures  $u^{\pm} \in \mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$  which satisfy  $u = u^+ - u^-$ , so that  $e \ge H(\pm u^{\pm})$ . We know that the positive and negative parts  $u_{\pm}$  of u are optimal decompositions in the sense that  $u = u_+ - u_-$  with  $u_{\pm} \le u^{\pm}$ , and we have  $u_+ \perp u_-$ . By monotonicity of the H-transform, due to Theorem 2.1,  $e \ge H(\pm u^{\pm}) \ge H(\pm u_{\pm})$ , and since  $H(u_+) \perp H(-u_-)$ , we get

$$e \ge H(u_+) + H(-u_-) = H(u).$$

<u>Step 5:</u> lower bound for the  $\Gamma - \liminf$ . We justify that (4.2) implies the lower bound  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_0) - \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} \ge \mathbf{M}^H$ . Indeed, fix  $u \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and consider a family  $(u_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  weakly converging to u as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . We need to show that  $\mathbf{M}^H(u) \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon})$ . Assume without loss of generality that the inferior limit is finite and take a sequence of positive numbers  $(\varepsilon_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \to 0$  such that this inferior limit is equal to  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon_n}(u_{\varepsilon_n})$ . Now the energy density  $e_n$  associated to  $u_n = u_{\varepsilon_n}$  has bounded mass and up to extracting a subsequence one may assume that it converges weakly to some measure  $e \in \mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . By the previous steps,  $e \ge H(u)$ , and by lower semicontinuity and monotonicity of the mass:

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||e_n|| \ge ||e|| \ge ||H(u)|| = \mathbf{M}^H(u).$$

#### **4.2 Upper bound for the** $\Gamma - \limsup$

In this section, we introduce the following substitute for (H<sub>8</sub>), where  $f, (f_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  are Borel maps from  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^N$  to  $[0, +\infty]$ :

(U) there exists  $C < +\infty$  such that for every  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $u \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} f_{\varepsilon}(x + \varepsilon y, u, \xi) \le f(x, u, \xi) \quad \text{and} \quad f_{\varepsilon}(y, u, \xi) \le C(f(x, u, \xi) + u) \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

**Proposition 4.2.** Assume that  $f, (f_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  satisfy (U) and (H<sub>3</sub>). If  $u \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then there exists  $(u_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0} \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  such that  $u_{\varepsilon} \mathcal{L}^N \xrightarrow{\mathcal{C}'_b} u$  when  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and which satisfies

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \mathbf{M}^{H_{f, \mathrm{lsc}}}(u),$$

where  $H_{f,\text{lsc}} \leq H_f$  stands for the lower semicontinuous and mass-subadditive envelope of  $H_f$ , defined in (2.6). In other words, we have  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_b) - \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} \leq \mathbf{M}^{H_{f,\text{lsc}}}$ .

Proof of Proposition 4.2. Let  $F = \Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_b) - \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$ . As an upper  $\Gamma$ -limit, F is sequentially lower semicontinuous in the narrow topology. Hence, by Proposition 2.5, it is enough to prove that  $F(u) \leq \mathbf{M}^{H_f}(u)$  whenever u is finitely atomic. Let  $u = \sum_{i=1}^k m_i \delta_{x_i}$  with  $k \in \mathbb{N}, m_i \in \mathbb{R}, x_i \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , and assume without loss of generality that  $x_i \neq x_j$  when  $i \neq j$  and  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}(u) < +\infty$ . Fix  $\eta > 0$ . For each  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ , there exists  $u_i \in W^{1,1}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_i = m_i$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(x_i, u_i, \nabla u_i) \leq H(x_i, m_i) + \eta$ . We define for every  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ ,

$$u_{\varepsilon}^{i}(x) = \varepsilon^{-N} u_{i}(\varepsilon^{-1}(x - x_{i})), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{N},$$
(4.15)

and

$$u_{\varepsilon} = \sup\{u_{\varepsilon}^{i} : i = 1, \dots, k\}, \qquad (4.16)$$

which converge narrowly as measures to u as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . We have by change of variables:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}^{i}) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{i} + \varepsilon x, u_{i}, \nabla u_{i}).$$

Using our assumption (U) and the dominated convergence theorem, one gets as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ :

$$F(u) \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} f(x_{i}, u_{i}, \nabla u_{i}) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} H(x_{i}, m_{i}) + k\eta = \mathbf{M}^{H}(u) + k\eta.$$

The conclusion follows by arbitrariness of  $\eta > 0$ .

#### 4.3 Proof of the main $\Gamma$ -convergence result

We now explain how Theorem 1.2 follows from Proposition 4.1 and Proposition 4.2.

Proof of Theorem 1.2. The lower bound  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_0) - \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} \geq \mathbf{M}^{H_f^-}$  follows from Proposition 4.1, and the upper bound  $\Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_b) - \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} \leq \mathbf{M}^{H_{f, \text{lsc}}}$  from Proposition 4.2, where the assumption (U) is a consequence of (H<sub>4</sub>), (H<sub>7</sub>) and (H<sub>8</sub>). In the case N = 2, by Proposition 2.6 and assumption (H<sub>6</sub>), we have  $H_f^- = H_f$ , and  $H_f \geq H_{f, \text{lsc}}$  by definition, so that both  $\Gamma - \liminf_{f}$  and  $\Gamma - \limsup_{f}$  (for weak and narrow topologies) coincide. In the case N = 1, by Proposition 2.7 either we have again  $H_f^- = H_f$  on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+$  by (H<sub>6</sub>) and (H<sub>3</sub>), or we have  $H_f(x_0, \cdot) \equiv +\infty$  on  $(0, +\infty)$  for some  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . In that case, by (H<sub>7</sub>) and Remark 2.2 we necessarily have  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u) = +\infty$  for every u such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u > 0$ , and  $H_f(x, \cdot) \equiv H_f(x_0, \cdot)$  on  $\mathbb{R}_+$  for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . It implies that both  $\Gamma - \liminf_{g \to 0} (for the weak and narrow topologies) coincide with for <math>\chi_{\{0\}} = \mathbf{M}^{H_f}$  on  $\mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Similarly, they coincide on finite negative measures.

## 5 Examples, counterexamples and applications

#### 5.1 Scale-invariant Lagrangians and necessity of assumption $(H_6)$

Our assumption (H<sub>6</sub>) is not very standard, but we need a condition of this type in order to get  $\Gamma$ -convergence of the rescaled energies  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$  towards  $\mathbf{M}^{H_f}$ , as shown by the following class of scale-invariant Lagrangians:

$$f_{\varepsilon}(x,u,\xi) = f(u,\xi) \quad \text{with} \quad f(u,\xi) = \begin{cases} u^{p(\frac{1}{p^{\star}}-1)}|\xi|^p & \text{if } u > 0, \\ 0 & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where  $p \in (1, N)$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $p^* \coloneqq \frac{pN}{N-p}$ . By straightforward computations,  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \mathcal{E}_f(u) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u, \nabla u)$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $u \in W^{1,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  in that case.

 $<sup>{}^{6}\</sup>chi_{C}(x) = 0$  if  $x \in C$  and  $+\infty$  otherwise.

Moreover, the associated cost function  $H_f$  is not trivial. Indeed, applying the Gagliardo– Nirenberg–Sobolev inequality,

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |v|^{p^\star}\right)^{\frac{1}{p^\star}} \le C\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla v|^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \quad \forall v \in L^{p^\star} \cap W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N),$$

to the function  $v = u^{\frac{1}{p^{\star}}}$ , we obtain that for every  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u\right)^{\frac{p}{p^{\star}}} \le \left(\frac{C}{p^{\star}}\right)^p \int_{\{u>0\}} u^{\frac{p}{p^{\star}}-p} |\nabla u|^p = \left(\frac{C}{p^{\star}}\right)^p \mathcal{E}_f(u).$$

Hence, for every m > 0, we have  $H_f(m) > 0$ , and even  $H_f(m) < +\infty$  since any function  $u = v^{p^*}$ , with  $v \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+)$ , has finite energy. Replacing u by mu in the infimum defining  $H_f$  in (1.2), we actually obtain

$$H_f(m) = m^{1-\frac{P}{N}} H_f(1), \quad 0 < H_f(1) < +\infty.$$
 (5.2)

In that case, it is clear that the  $\Gamma$ -limit of  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} \equiv \mathcal{E}$  in the weak or narrow topology of  $\mathcal{M}_{+}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ , that is the lower semicontinuous relaxation of  $\mathcal{E}_{f}$ , does not coincide with  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{f}}$ ; indeed, the first functional is finite on diffuse measures whose density has finite energy, while the second functional is always infinite for non-trivial diffuse measures since  $H'_{f}(0) = +\infty$ .

These scaling invariant Lagrangians are ruled out by our assumption  $(H_6)$ . All the other assumptions are satisfied except  $(H_5)$ . Note that the following perturbation of f,

$$\tilde{f}(u,\xi) = (1+u^{p(\frac{1}{p^{\star}}-1)})|\xi|^p$$

satisfies all the assumptions except ( $\mathbf{H}_6$ ), and provides a counterexample to the  $\Gamma$ -convergence. Indeed,  $\mathbf{M}_{H_{\tilde{f}}} \geq \mathbf{M}_{H_f}$  is still infinite on diffuse measures, while (the relaxation of)  $\mathcal{E}_{\tilde{f}}$  is finite for any diffuse measure whose density has finite energy.

We stress that an assumption like ( $\mathbf{H}_6$ ) is actually needed, even for the lower semicontinuity of the function  $H_f$  – recall that if  $\mathbf{M}_{H_f}$  is a  $\Gamma$ -limit, then it must be lower semicontinuous by [Bra02, Proposition 1.28], which in turn implies that the function  $H_f$  is lower semicontinuous by Proposition 2.5. Indeed, consider the Lagrangians

$$f(x, u, \xi) = \left(1 + u^{p(\frac{1}{p^{\star}} - 1)}\right) |\xi|^{p(x)},$$

with  $p \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{R}^N, (1, N))$  such that  $p(0) = p \in (1, N)$  and p(x) > p when  $x \neq 0$ . Then, we have  $H_f(0, m) = m^{1-\frac{p}{N}}H(1)$ , but  $H_f(x, \cdot) \equiv 0$  if  $x \neq 0$  as can be easily seen via the change of function  $\varepsilon^N u(\varepsilon \cdot)$ , with  $\varepsilon > 0$  small.

#### 5.2 General concave costs in dimension one

It has been proved in [Wir19] that for any continuous concave function  $H : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  with H(0) = 0, there exists a function  $c : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  such that c(0) = 0,  $u \mapsto \frac{c(u)}{u}$  is lower semicontinuous and non-increasing on  $(0, +\infty)$ , and for every  $m \ge 0$ ,

$$H(m) = \inf \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}} |u'|^2 + c(u) : u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}_+), \int_{\mathbb{R}} u = m \right\}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Actually, we apply it to  $v_{\varepsilon} = \phi_{\varepsilon}(u)$  where  $\phi_{\varepsilon}$  is a suitable approximation of  $(\cdot)^{\frac{1}{p^{\star}}}$  and take  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

The Lagrangians of the form  $f_{\varepsilon}(x, u, \xi) = |\xi|^2 + c(u)$ , in dimension N = 1, satisfy all our assumptions (H<sub>1</sub>)–(H<sub>8</sub>), hence our  $\Gamma$ -convergence result stated in Theorem 1.2 yields the  $\Gamma$ -convergence of the functionals

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varepsilon^3 |u'|^2 + \frac{c(\varepsilon u)}{\varepsilon}, \quad u \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}_+),$$

towards  $\mathbf{M}^{H}$  for both the weak and narrow convergence of measures. Therefore, we may find an elliptic approximation of any concave *H*-mass. Let us stress that *c* is determined in [Wir19] from *H* through several operations including a deconvolution problem, but no closed form solution is given in general; nonetheless, an explicit solution is provided if *c* is affine by parts.

In higher dimension  $N \ge 2$ , Proposition 2.8 tells us that the class of functions  $H = H_f$  with f satisfying (H<sub>1</sub>)–(H<sub>8</sub>) is smaller, namely, H must satisfy:

$$\exists m_* \ge 0, \quad \begin{cases} H \text{ is linear on } [0, m_*], \\ H \text{ is strictly concave } (m_*, +\infty). \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

We have no positive or negative answer to the inverse problem, consisting in finding f satisfying our assumptions such that  $H_f = H$ , for a given continuous concave function  $H : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  satisfying (5.3).

#### 5.3 Homogeneous costs in any dimension

In this section, we provide Lagrangians f to obtain the  $\alpha$ -mass  $\mathbf{M}^{\alpha} := \mathbf{M}^{t \mapsto t^{\alpha}}$  in any dimension N for a wide range of exponents, including super-critical exponents  $\alpha \in \left(1 - \frac{1}{N}, 1\right]$ . We consider for every  $p \in [1, +\infty), s \in (-\infty, 1]$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , the energy defined for every  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+)$  by

$$\mathcal{E}_{N,ps}(u) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f_{N,p,s}(u, \nabla u) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^p + u^s.$$
(5.4)

Notice that for p > 1,  $f_{N,p,s}$  satisfies all our hypotheses (H<sub>1</sub>)–(H<sub>6</sub>) (without dependence on x), (H<sub>6</sub>) holding in dimension  $N \ge 2$  with  $\rho(t) = t$  for example. Thus by Theorem 1.2 the re-scaled energies  $\Gamma$ -converge to the  $H_{f_{N,p,s}}$ -mass.

One may compute  $H_{f_{N,p,s}}$  substituting u by v such that  $u = m\lambda^N v(\lambda \cdot)$  in (1.2), where

$$\lambda = m^{\frac{s/p-1}{1+N-sN/p}}.$$
(5.5)

Straightforward computations give  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v = 1$  if  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = m$ , and

$$\mathcal{E}_{N,p,s}(u) = m^{\alpha(N,p,s)} \mathcal{E}_{N,p,s}(v), \qquad \text{where} \quad \alpha(N,p,s) = \frac{1 - \frac{s}{p} + \frac{s}{N}}{1 - \frac{s}{p} + \frac{1}{N}},$$

thus

$$H_{N,p,s}(m) = c_{N,p,s} m^{\alpha(N,p,s)},$$
 where  $c_{N,p,s} = H_{N,p,s}(1).$ 

We look for cases when the cost is non-trivial, i.e. neither identically zero nor infinite on  $(0, +\infty)$ . Take an auxiliary exponent  $q \in [1, +\infty)$  and  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$  such that  $1 = \alpha q + (1 - \alpha)s$ . By Hölder inequality,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^{\alpha q} u^{(1-\alpha)s} \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^q\right)^{\alpha} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^s\right)^{1-\alpha}$$

Moreover, choosing  $q \in (1, p^*)$  if p < N and any  $q \in (1, +\infty)$  if  $p \ge N$ , by the Gagliardo– Nirenberg–Sobolev inequality, for every  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}} \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+)$ ,

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^q\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} = \|u\|_{L^q} \le C \|\nabla u\|_{L^p}^{\beta} \|u\|_{L^1}^{1-\beta},$$

with  $\beta \in (0,1)$  such that  $\frac{1}{q} = \beta \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{N}\right) + (1-\beta)$ . Hence,

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u\right)^{1-q\alpha(1-\beta)} \le C \ \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^p\right)^{\frac{q\alpha\beta}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^s\right)^{1-\alpha},$$

and the cost is non-zero for every m > 0.

In the case  $s \in [0,1]$ , any  $u = v^r$  with  $v \in \mathcal{C}^1_c(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is a competitor with finite energy, thus  $\mathcal{E}_{N,p,s}$  is non-trivial for every  $p \in [1, +\infty)$ . In the case s < 0, consider the competitor  $u : x \mapsto (1 - |x|)^{\gamma}_+$  for  $\gamma > 0$  to be fixed later. Then  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^p < +\infty$  if and only if  $t \mapsto (1-t)^{(\gamma-1)p}$  is integrable at 1<sup>-</sup>, i.e.  $(\gamma-1)p > -1 \iff \gamma > 1-1/p$ , and  $\int_{\{u>0\}} u^s < +\infty$ if and only if  $\gamma s > -1 \iff \gamma < -1/s$ . Therefore, one may find  $\gamma > 0$  satisfying both conditions, and ensure that  $H_{f_{N,p,r,s}}$  is non-trivial, if

$$-p' < s < 0.$$

To summarize, we have shown that  $H_{f_{N,p,s}}$  is non-trivial if:

$$s \in (-p', 1].$$

Since  $\alpha = \alpha(N, p, s)$  is monotone in s, one may easily compute the range of  $\alpha$ . If p and N are fixed,  $\alpha$  ranges over  $\left(\frac{N-1}{N+1-1/p}, 1\right]$  when  $s \in (-p', 1]$ . Notice that when N = 1 we obtain the whole range  $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ , and at least the range  $\left[1 - \frac{1}{N}, 1\right]$  for every p in dimension  $N \ge 2$ . Finally, we obtain a range  $\alpha \in \left(1 - \frac{2}{N+1}, 1\right]$  when p ranges over  $(1 + \infty)$  in dimension N.

#### 5.4 Branched transport approximation: *H*-masses of normal 1-currents

Branched Transport is a variant of classical optimal transport (see [San15] and Section 4.4.2 therein for a brief presentation of branched transport, and [BCM09] for a vast exposition) where the transport energy concentrates on a network, i.e. a 1-dimensional subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , which has a graph structure when optimized with prescribed source and target measures. It can be formulated as a minimal flow problem,

$$\min \left\{ \mathbf{M}_{1}^{H}(w) : \operatorname{div}(w) = \mu^{-} - \mu^{+} \right\},\$$

where  $\mu^{\pm}$  are probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $H : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is mass-subadditive, and the *H*-mass  $\mathbf{M}_1^H$  is this time defined for finite vector measures  $w \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$  whose distributional divergence is also a finite measure; in the language of currents, it is called a 1-dimensional normal current. Any such measure may be decomposed into a 1-rectifiable part  $\theta \xi \cdot \mathcal{H}^1 \sqcup \Sigma$  where  $\theta(x) \ge 0$  and  $\xi(x)$  is a unit tangent vector to  $\Sigma$  for  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -a.e.  $x \in \Sigma$ , and a 1-diffuse part  $w^{\perp}$  satisfying  $|w^{\perp}|(A) = 0$  for every 1-rectifiable set A:

$$w = \theta \xi \cdot \mathcal{H}^1_{|M} + w^\perp$$

The H-mass is then defined by:

$$\mathbf{M}_{1}^{H}(w) \coloneqq \int_{\Sigma} H(x,\theta(x)) \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{1}(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} H'(x,0) \,\mathrm{d}|w^{\perp}|.$$
(5.6)

In the case  $H(x,m) = m^{\alpha}$  with  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , a family of approximations of these functional has been introduced in [OS11]:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\beta,\varepsilon}(w) = \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varepsilon^{\gamma_1} |\nabla w|^2 + \varepsilon^{-\gamma_2} |w|^{\beta} & \text{if } w \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

with  $\beta = \frac{2-2d+2\alpha d}{3-d+\alpha(d-1)}$ ,  $\gamma_1 = (d-1)(1-\alpha)$  and  $\gamma_2 = 3-d+\alpha(d-1)$ . It has been shown in [OS11; Mon17] that the functionals  $\mathcal{F}_{\beta,\varepsilon}$   $\Gamma$ -converge as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ , in the topology of weak convergence of u and its divergence, to a non-trivial multiple of the  $\alpha$ -mass  $\mathbf{M}_1^{\alpha} \coloneqq \mathbf{M}_1^H$  with  $H(x,m) = m^{\alpha}$  in dimension d = 2. The result extends to any dimension d, by [Mon15], thanks to a slicing method that relates the energy  $\mathcal{E}_{\beta,\varepsilon}$  with the energy of the sliced measures  $u = (w \cdot \nu)_+$  supported on the slices  $V_a = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : x \cdot \nu = a\} \simeq \mathbb{R}^N$ , for any given unit vector  $\nu \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , defined by

$$\bar{\mathcal{E}}_{\beta,\varepsilon}(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \varepsilon^{\gamma_1} |\nabla u|^2 + \varepsilon^{-\gamma_2} |u|^{\beta}.$$

The functionals  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}_{\beta,\varepsilon}$   $\Gamma$ -converge as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ , in the weak- $\star$  topology of  $\mathcal{C}'_b$ , to  $c\mathbf{M}^{\alpha}$  for some non-trivial c, as shown in Section 5.3, and one may recover every  $\alpha$ -mass in this way for  $\alpha \in \left(\frac{2d-4}{2d+1}, 1\right]$ , and in particular every so-called super-critical exponents for Branched Transport in dimension d, that is  $\alpha \in (1 - 1/d, 1]$ .

The same slicing method would allow to extend our  $\Gamma$ -convergence result stated in Theorem 1.2 to functionals defined on vector measure

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(w) = \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f_{\varepsilon}(x, \varepsilon^{d-1} |w|(x), \varepsilon^d |\nabla w|(x)) \varepsilon^{1-d} \, \mathrm{d}x & \text{if } w \in W^{1,1}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(5.8)

for Lagrangians  $f_{\varepsilon} \to f$  fitting the framework of Theorem 1.2. The expected  $\Gamma$ -limit, for the weak topology of measures and their divergence measure, would be the functional  $\mathbf{M}_{1}^{H_{f}}$ , with  $H_{f}$  defined in (1.2). Note that this approach would provide approximations of Hmasses for more general continuous and concave cost functions  $H : \mathbb{R}_{+} \to \mathbb{R}_{+}$  satisfying H(0) = 0. By [Wir19], we would obtain all such H-masses when N = 1 (corresponding to d = 2).

#### 5.5 A Cahn-Hilliard model for droplets

Following the works [BDS96] in the one-dimensional case and [Dub98] in higher dimension, we consider functionals on  $\mathcal{M}_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$  of the form:

$$\mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \varepsilon^{-\rho}(W(u) + \varepsilon |\nabla u|^{2}) & \text{if } u \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}, \mathbb{R}_{+}), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

where  $W: \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is a Borel function satisfying  $W(t) \sim_{u \to +\infty} u^s$  for some exponent  $s \in (-\infty, 1)$ . In [BDS96; Dub98], it is in particular proven, under some assumptions on the slope of W at 0 and its regularity, that the family  $(\mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$   $\Gamma$ -converges to a non-trivial multiple of the  $\alpha$ -mass,  $\alpha = \frac{1-s/2+s/N}{1-s/2+1/N}$ , when  $s \in (-2, 1)$  and  $\rho = \rho(s, N) \coloneqq \frac{N(1-s)}{(N+2)+N(1-s)}$ . In this section, we recover this  $\Gamma$ -convergence result using our general model. Replacing  $\varepsilon$  with  $\overline{\varepsilon} \coloneqq \varepsilon^{(N+2)+N(1-s)}$  and noticing that  $1 - \rho = \frac{N+2}{(N+2)+N(1-s)}$ , one gets for

every  $u \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}_+)$ :

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{W}_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(u) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \varepsilon^{-N(1-s)} W(u) + \varepsilon^{N+2} |\nabla u|^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( [\varepsilon^{Ns} W(\varepsilon^{-N} \varepsilon^N u)] + |\varepsilon^{N+1} \nabla u|^2 \right) \varepsilon^{-N} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f_{\varepsilon}^W(x, \varepsilon^N u, \varepsilon^{N+1} \nabla u) \varepsilon^{-N}, \end{split}$$

where  $f_{\varepsilon}^{W}$  is defined for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, u \in \mathbb{R}_{+}, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$  by

$$f_{\varepsilon}^{W}(x, u, \xi) \coloneqq W_{\varepsilon}(u) + |\xi|^{2}$$
 and  $W_{\varepsilon}(u) \coloneqq \varepsilon^{Ns} W(\varepsilon^{-N}u).$ 

Therefore if we take  $f_{\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon}^{W}$  in our general model (1.3) we exactly get  $\mathcal{W}_{\overline{\varepsilon}} = \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}$ . The fact that  $W(u) \sim u^{s}$  as  $u \to +\infty$  implies that  $W_{\varepsilon}$  converges pointwise to the map  $k_{s} : u \mapsto u^{s}$  if  $u > 0, k_{s}(0) = 0$ , hence  $f_{\varepsilon}^{W}$  converges to  $f_{s} : (x, u, \xi) \mapsto k_{s}(u) + |\xi|^{2}$ .

**Theorem 5.1.** Assume that  $W : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  satisfies:

 $(HW_1)$  W is lower semicontinuous,

$$(\mathrm{HW}_2) \ \{W = 0\} = \{0\},\$$

(HW<sub>3</sub>)  $W(u) \sim_{u \to +\infty} u^s$  for some  $s \in (-\infty, 1)$ ,

$$(\mathrm{HW}_4) \, \sup_{u>0} \frac{W(u)}{u^s} < +\infty,$$

(HW<sub>5</sub>) 
$$0 < \liminf_{u \to 0^+} \frac{W(u)}{u}.$$

Then  $(\mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$   $\Gamma$ -converges to  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{f_s}}$ , for both topologies  $\mathcal{C}'_0$  and  $\mathcal{C}'_b$ , and if  $s \in (-2, 1]$  then  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{f_s}}$  is a nontrivial multiple of  $\mathbf{M}^{\alpha}$  where  $\alpha = \frac{1-s/2+s/N}{1-s/2+1/N}$ .

To prove this theorem, we start with a simple lemma.

**Lemma 5.2.** Assume that W satisfies (HW<sub>1</sub>)-(HW<sub>5</sub>). Then for every  $\delta \in (0,1)$ , there exists  $c_{\delta} \in (0, +\infty)$  such that for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  and every  $u \in \mathbb{R}_+$ ,

$$\delta(u^p \wedge c_\delta \varepsilon^{-N(1-s)} u) \le W_\varepsilon(u). \tag{5.10}$$

Proof. Fix  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ . There exists M > 0 such that  $\delta u^s \leq W(u)$  for every  $u \geq M$ . Besides, the map  $w : u \mapsto W(u)/u$  is lower semicontinuous and positive on (0, M] by (HW<sub>1</sub>) and (HW<sub>2</sub>), and since  $\liminf_{u\to 0} w(u) > 0$  by (HW<sub>5</sub>), w is necessarily bounded from below on (0, M] by some contant c > 0. As a consequence  $W_{\varepsilon}(u) \geq \delta u^s$  if  $u \geq \varepsilon^N M$  and  $W_{\varepsilon}(u) \geq c\varepsilon^{N(s-1)}u$  if  $u \leq \varepsilon^N M$ , hence:

$$\forall u \in \mathbb{R}, \quad W_{\varepsilon}(u) \ge \delta(u^s \wedge c\varepsilon^{-N(1-s)}u). \qquad \Box$$

Proof of Theorem 5.1. By (HW<sub>4</sub>), there exists a constant C such that  $f_{\varepsilon}^{W} \leq Cf_{s}$  for every  $\varepsilon$ , and since  $f_{\varepsilon}^{W}$  does not depend on the x variable and converges pointwise to  $f_{s}$ , (U) is satisfied and our  $\Gamma$  – lim sup result stated in Proposition 4.2 yields

$$\mathbf{M}^{H_{f_s}} \geq \Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_b) - \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}.$$

Fix  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ . By Lemma 5.2, there exists  $c_{\delta}$  such that

$$\forall x, u, \xi, \quad f_{\varepsilon}^{W}(x, u, \xi) \ge \delta(|\xi|^{2} + (u^{s} \wedge c_{\delta} \varepsilon^{-N(1-s)}u) \eqqcolon f_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}(x, u, \xi).$$

It is easy to check that  $f_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}$  satisfies (H<sub>1</sub>), (H<sub>2</sub>) and (H<sub>5</sub>) for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Moreover  $f_{\varepsilon}^{\delta} \uparrow \delta f_s$ and  $(f_{\varepsilon}^{\delta})'_{-}(\cdot, 0^{+}, 0) = \delta c_{\delta} \varepsilon^{-N(1-s)} \uparrow +\infty = (\delta f_s)'_{-}(\cdot, 0^{+}, 0)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , thus (H<sub>8</sub>) holds for the family  $(f_{\varepsilon}^{\delta})_{\varepsilon>0}$ , and by applying our  $\Gamma$  – lim inf result stated in Proposition 4.1 to the energies  $\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}$  induced by  $f_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}$  we get:

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_0) - \liminf \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon} \geq \Gamma(\mathcal{C}'_0) - \liminf \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}^{\delta} \geq \mathbf{M}^{H_{\delta f_s}}.$$

We get the result by taking the limit  $\delta \to 1$ , noticing that  $(f_s)'_{-}(\cdot, 0^+, 0) = +\infty$ , so that  $H_{\delta f_s}^- = H_{\delta f_s} = \delta H_{f_s}$  and  $\mathbf{M}^{H_{\delta f_s}} = \mathbf{M}^{\delta H_{f_s}} = \delta \mathbf{M}^{H_{f_s}}$ .

Remark 5.3. We recover the  $\Gamma$ -convergence results of [BDS96] and [Dub98] when  $s \in (-2, 1)$ under slightly more general assumptions: besides (HW<sub>2</sub>) and (HW<sub>3</sub>), the authors impose the existence of a nontrivial slope  $\lim_{u\to 0} \frac{W(u)}{u} \in (0, +\infty)$  and a regularity condition (either W is of class  $C^1$  or continuous and nondecreasing close to 0), which are stronger than (HW<sub>1</sub>), (HW<sub>4</sub>) and (HW<sub>5</sub>). Let us stress however that these works also tackle the cases s < -2 in any dimension, where the exponent  $\rho$  has to be fixed to  $\rho(-2, N)$ , and the case s = -2 in dimension one, where a logarithmic factor must be introduced, replacing  $\varepsilon^{-\rho}$  with  $\varepsilon^{-\rho(-2,1)} |\log \varepsilon|^{-1} = \varepsilon^{-1/2} |\log \varepsilon|^{-1}$ . This implies that in our model we get a trivial  $\Gamma$ -limit when  $s \leq -2$ , namely  $H_{f_s} \equiv +\infty$  on  $(0, +\infty)$ .

## Ackowledgements

A. M. acknowledges support by Leverhulme grant RPG-2018-438.

### References

 [AFP00] L. Ambrosio, N. Fusco, and D. Pallara.
 <u>Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems</u>. Oxford Mathematical Monographs.
 The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 2000, pp. xviii+434. ISBN: 0-19-850245-1.

[AG99]	<ul> <li>P. Aviles and Y. Giga. "On lower semicontinuity of a defect energy obtained by a singular limit of the Ginzburg-Landau type energy for gradient fields".</li> <li>In: <u>Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh. Section A. Mathematics</u> 129.1 (1999), pp. 1–17. ISSN: 0308-2105. DOI: 10.1017/S0308210500027438.</li> </ul>
[BB90]	<ul> <li>G. Bouchitté and G. Buttazzo. "New Lower Semicontinuity Results for non Convex Functionals defined on Measures". In:</li> <li><u>Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods &amp; Applications</u> 15.7 (1990), pp. 679–692.</li> </ul>
[BB93]	<ul> <li>G. Bouchitté and G. Buttazzo.</li> <li>"Relaxation for a class of nonconvex functionals defined on measures".</li> <li>In: <u>Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré. Analyse Non Linéaire</u> 10.3 (1993), pp. 345-361. ISSN: 0294-1449. DOI: 10.1016/S0294-1449(16)30216-5.</li> </ul>
[BCM09]	M. Bernot, V. Caselles, and JM. Morel. <u>Optimal transportation networks</u> . Vol. 1955. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Models and theory. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009, pp. x+200. ISBN: 978-3-540-69314-7.
[BDS96]	<ul> <li>G. Bouchitté, C. Dubs, and P. Seppecher. "Transitions de phases avec un potentiel dégénéré à l'infini, application à l'équilibre de petites gouttes".</li> <li>In: <u>C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math.</u> 323.9 (1996), pp. 1103–1108.</li> <li>ISSN: 0764-4442.</li> </ul>
[BPP12]	<ul> <li>P. Bauman, J. Park, and D. Phillips.</li> <li>"Analysis of nematic liquid crystals with disclination lines".</li> <li>In: <u>Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis</u> 205.3 (2012), pp. 795–826.</li> <li>ISSN: 0003-9527. DOI: 10.1007/s00205-012-0530-7.</li> </ul>
[Bra02]	A. Braides. <u>Gamma-Convergence for Beginners</u> . Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and Its Applications. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002. 230 pp. ISBN: 978-0-19-850784-0. DOI: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198507840.001.0001.
[But89]	<ul> <li>G. Buttazzo.</li> <li>Semicontinuity, relaxation and integral representation in the calculus of variations.</li> <li>Vol. 207. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series.</li> <li>Longman Scientific &amp; Technical, Harlow; copublished in the United States with</li> <li>John Wiley &amp; Sons, Inc., New York, 1989, pp. iv+222. ISBN: 0-582-01859-5.</li> </ul>
[Col+17]	M. Colombo et al. "On the lower semicontinuous envelope of functionals defined on polyhedral chains". In: <u>Nonlinear Anal.</u> 163 (2017), pp. 201–215. ISSN: 0362-546X. DOI: 10.1016/j.na.2017.08.002.
[DH03]	T. De Pauw and R. Hardt. "Size minimization and approximating problems". In: <u>Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations</u> 17.4 (2003), pp. 405–442. ISSN: 0944-2669. DOI: 10.1007/s00526-002-0177-6.
[Dub98]	<ul><li>C. Dubs.</li><li>"Problemes de perturbations singulieres avec un potentiel degenere a l'infini".</li><li>Thèse de doctorat dirigée par Bouchitte, Guy Sciences et techniques communes</li><li>Toulon 1998. PhD thesis. 1998, 156 P.</li></ul>

[Fed59]	H. Federer. "Curvature measures". In: <u>Transactions of the American Mathematical Society</u> 93.3 (1959), pp. 418–491. <u>ISSN: 0002-9947</u> , 1088-6850. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9947-1959-0110078-1.
[Fle66]	<ul> <li>W. H. Fleming. "Flat chains over a finite coefficient group".</li> <li>In: <u>Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.</u> 121 (1966), pp. 160–186. ISSN: 0002-9947.</li> <li>DOI: 10.2307/1994337.</li> </ul>
[Hél94]	F. Hélein. <u>Ginzburg–Landau vortices</u> . Vol. 13. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications. Boston, Mass.: Birkhäuser, 1994. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-66673-0.
[Mar14]	M. Mariş. Profile decomposition for sequences of Borel measures. 2014. arXiv: 1410.6125 [math.AP].
[MM77]	L. Modica and S. Mortola. "Un esempio di $\Gamma$ -convergenza". In: <u>Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B (5)</u> 14.1 (1977). tex.title=Un esempio di $\Gamma$ -convergenza, pp. 285–299.
[Mon15]	<ul> <li>A. Monteil.</li> <li>"Elliptic approximations of singular energies under divergence constraint".</li> <li>PhD thesis. Université Paris-Saclay, Dec. 2015.</li> </ul>
[Mon17]	<ul> <li>A. Monteil. "Uniform estimates for a Modica-Mortola type approximation of branched transportation".</li> <li>In: ESAIM. Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations 23.1 (2017), pp. 309–335. ISSN: 1292-8119. DOI: 10.1051/cocv/2015049.</li> </ul>
[Nir59]	L. Nirenberg. "On elliptic partial differential equations". fr. In: <u>Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa - Classe di Scienze</u> 13.2 (1959), pp. 115–162.
[OS11]	<ul> <li>E. Oudet and F. Santambrogio.</li> <li>"A Modica-Mortola approximation for branched transport and applications".</li> <li>In: <u>Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis</u> 201.1 (2011), pp. 115–142.</li> <li>ISSN: 0003-9527. DOI: 10.1007/s00205-011-0402-6.</li> </ul>
[RV73]	A. W. Roberts and D. Varberg. "Convex Functions". In: Pure and applied mathematics 57 (1973).
[San15]	F. Santambrogio. Optimal transport for applied mathematicians. Vol. 87. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications. Calculus of variations, PDEs, and modeling. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2015, pp. xxvii+353. ISBN: 978-3-319-20827-5; 978-3-319-20828-2. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-20828-2.
[Wir19]	<ul> <li>B. Wirth.</li> <li>"Phase field models for two-dimensional branched transportation problems".</li> <li>In: <u>Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations</u> 58.5 (2019), Paper No. 164, 31. ISSN: 0944-2669. DOI: 10.1007/s00526-019-1615-z.</li> </ul>